

WHO recommendations on adolescent sexual and reproductive health and rights



WHO recommendations on adolescent sexual and reproductive health and rights



WHO recommendations on adolescent sexual and reproductive health and rights

ISBN 978-92-4-151460-6

© World Health Organization 2018

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization.

Suggested citation. WHO recommendations on adolescent sexual and reproductive health and rights. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see http://apps.who.int/bookorders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see http://www.who.int/about/licensing.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Edited and designed by Inís Communication Printed in Switzerland

Contents

Acknowledgements		
Abbreviations	vi	
1 Introduction	1	
1.1 What is the purpose of this document?		
1.2 Who is the intended audience of this document?		
1.3 What does this document contain?		
1.4 How is this document organized?		
1.5 What are the cross-cutting key messages in this document?		
2 Comprehensive sexuality education provision		
2.1 Definitions		
2.2 Rationale		
2.3 Relevant WHO guidelines	6	
2.4 Key concepts to consider	7	
2.5 Key complementary documents in addition to the WHO guidelines		
2.6 Real-life application of the guidelines		
3 Contraception counselling and provision		
3.1 Definition		
3.2 Rationale		
3.3 Relevant WHO guidelines	11	
3.4 Key concepts to consider	15	
3.5 Key complementary documents in addition to the WHO guidelines	17	
3.6 Real-life application of the guidelines	17	
4 Antenatal, intrapartum and postnatal care		
4.1 Definitions		
4.2 Rationale		
4.3 Relevant WHO guidelines		
4.4 Key concepts to consider		
4.5 Key complementary documents in addition to the WHO guidelines		
4.6 Real-life application of the guidelines		

5 Safe abortion care	
5.1 Definitions	
5.2 Rationale	
5.3 Relevant WHO guidelines	
5.4 Key concepts to consider	
5.5 Key complementary documents in addition to the WHO guidelines.	
5.6 Real-life application of the guidelines	
6 Sexually transmitted infections prevention and care	
6.1 Definitions	
6.2 Rationale	
6.3 Relevant WHO guidelines	
6.4 Key concepts to consider	
6.5 Key complementary documents in addition to the WHO guidelines	
6.6 Real-life application of the guidelines	38
7 HIV prevention and care	
7.1 Definitions	
7.2 Rationale	
7.3 Relevant WHO guidelines	41
7.4 Key concepts to consider	47
7.5 Key complementary documents in addition to the WHO guidelines	49
7.6 Real-life application of the guidelines	50
8 Violence against women and girls: prevention, support and care	
8.1 Definitions	
8.2 Rationale	
8.3 Relevant WHO guidelines	
8.4 Key concepts to consider	
8.5 Key complementary documents in addition to the WHO guidelines	
8.6 Real-life application of the guidelines	
9 Harmful traditional practices prevention	
9.1 Definitions	
9.2 Rationale	
9.3 Relevant WHO guidelines	
9.4 Key concepts to consider	61
9.5 Key complementary documents in addition to the WHO guidelines	
9.6 Real-life application of the guidelines	63
References	64

Acknowledgements

We gratefully acknowledge the contributions of many individuals to the development of this document.

The WHO recommendations on adolescent sexual and reproductive health and rights was conceived by Lale Say, in conjunction with Venkatraman Chandra-Mouli and Matti Parry, who was then a staff member of WHO.

Jill Gay, an independent consultant, was engaged to draft the document, with inputs from Venkatraman Chandra-Mouli and Matti Parry.

Following review, a fully revised second draft was developed by Marina Plesons and Venkatraman Chandra-Mouli.

The second draft received comments from colleagues working on contraception counselling and provision (Mario Festin, Mary Lyn Gaffield, Rita Kabra); antenatal, intrapartum and postnatal care (Mercedes Bonet Semenas, Olufemi Oladapo, Özge Tunçalp); safe abortion care (Antonella Lavelanet, Bela Ganatra, Caron Kim, Ronald Johnson); sexually transmitted infections prevention and care (Nathalie Broutet, Teodora Wi); HIV prevention and care (David Ross, Julia Samuelson, Shona Dalal, Wole Ameyan); violence against women and girls prevention, support and care (Avni Amin, Claudia Garcia Moreno); and harmful traditional practices (Christina Pallitto, Wisal Ahmed). Similarly, it received comments on human rights and sexual and reproductive health from Lucinda O'Hanlon, and overarching comments from Ian Askew. Facts and figures in the 'Rationale' sections of each chapter were reviewed by Manahil Siddiqi.

Drawing upon the feedback of these groups, a revised third draft of the document was developed by Marina Plesons. The third draft was reviewed for final comments by the individuals listed above.

The final document was developed by Marina Plesons and Venkatraman Chandra-Mouli.

Illustrations were developed by Graham Ogilvie, of Ogilvie Design, with inputs from Manahil Siddiqi, Marina Plesons, Rubee Dev and Venkatraman Chandra-Mouli.

The document was edited and designed by Inis Communication, with final review by Amelia Ngozi Odo, Marina Plesons, Rubee Dev and Venkatraman Chandra-Mouli.

Venkatraman Chandra-Mouli from the WHO Department of Reproductive Health and Research led and oversaw the development of the document from start to finish.

Abbreviations

AIDS	acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
ASRHR	adolescent sexual and reproductive health and rights
CSE	comprehensive sexuality education
DMPA/NET-EN	depot medroxyprogesterone acetate/norethisterone enanthate
FGM	female genital mutilation
GREAT Network	Guideline-driven, Research priorities, Evidence synthesis, Application of evidence, and Transfer of knowledge Network
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus
HPV	human papillomavirus
IPV	intimate partner violence
STI	sexually transmitted infection
ТВ	tuberculosis
UNAIDS	Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS
UNESCO	United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization
UNFPA	United Nations Population Fund
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund
WHO	World Health Organization

Introduction



1.1 What is the purpose of this document?

This document provides an overview of sexual and reproductive health and rights issues that may be important for the human rights, health and well-being of adolescents (aged 10–19 years) and the relevant World Health Organization (WHO) guidelines on how to address them in an easily accessible, user-friendly format. The document serves as a gateway to the rich body of WHO guidelines, and as a handy resource to inform advocacy, policy and programme/project design and research. It aims to support the implementation of the Global Strategy for Women's, Children's and Adolescents' Health 2016–2030 (1), and is aligned with the WHO Global Accelerated Action for the Health of Adolescents (AA-HA!) as well as the WHO Operational Framework on Sexual Health and Its Linkages to Reproductive Health (2,3).

Full lists of WHO guidelines relevant to adolescent sexual and reproductive health and rights (ASRHR) can be found on the WHO website under the health topics `Sexual and Reproductive Health' and `HIV/AIDS'. As new recommendations are issued, it is important to refer to the latest versions of guidelines.

1.2 Who is the intended audience of this document?

This document is intended to be used by policy-makers and decision-makers in ministries of health responsible for ASRHR policies and programmes, international and national nongovernmental organizations carrying out ASRHR projects, and international organizations that provide technical or financial support for ASRHR work. The document is intended to be accessible to people with or without expertise in ASRHR. It is not intended as a technical reference for frontline professionals such as health-care providers, teachers or community development professionals.

1.3 What does this document contain?

In line with the WHO Operational Framework on Sexual Health and Its Linkages to Reproductive Health (3), this document compiles the WHO recommendations on the following issues:

- comprehensive sexuality education (CSE) provision
- contraception counselling and provision
- antenatal, intrapartum and postnatal care

- safe abortion care
- sexually transmitted infections (STIs) prevention and care
- human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) prevention and care
- · violence against women and girls prevention, support and care
- harmful traditional practices prevention.

1.4 How is this document organized?

For each issue, this document outlines the following:

- definitions
- rationale for addressing the issue in adolescents
- relevant WHO guidelines
- key concepts to consider
- key complementary documents in addition to the WHO guidelines
- real-life application of the guidelines.

1.5 What are the cross-cutting key messages in this document?

While there are specific considerations in addressing each of the issues included in this document, there are also clear and important cross-cutting messages.

Adolescents are a heterogeneous group with different and evolving needs, depending on their personal development stages and life circumstances. As they transition from childhood, through adolescence, into adulthood, all individuals must be prepared with the knowledge and skills they need to make use of the opportunities and to face the challenges they will encounter in the adult world. These efforts should contribute to building their sense of self-worth and to strengthening their links with the individuals and institutions in their communities. Meanwhile, adolescents need protection from harm on the one hand, and support to make independent decisions and act on them on the other. They need health and counselling services that can contribute to helping them stay well, and to get back to good health when they are ill or injured. The WHO guidelines described in this document call for this package of actions: building knowledge and skills, building individual and social assets, providing a safe and supportive environment, and providing health and counselling services. The guidelines also stress the role of educational and employment opportunities in broadening adolescents' horizons and helping them make a place for themselves in the world. They take into account that in many places, adolescents have limited opportunities to grow and develop to their full potential, and that poverty, insecurity, disempowering social norms and restrictive laws further increase their vulnerability to health and social problems.

Parents (and other family members) have an important role in delivering interventions, such as preparing girls and boys for puberty and building equitable gender norms. They also have a role to play in helping adolescents to access interventions being provided in the community, such as the human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccine and voluntary medical male circumcision. Almost

all parents want their sons and daughters to grow and develop in good health, and contribute to this meaningfully. However, in many places, they feel unprepared and unable to address the sensitive matters around puberty, sexuality and reproduction. For parents to do this, and to do this effectively, they need to be engaged, convinced of its value and supported. An important starting point is their own knowledge, misconceptions, hopes and fears.

Adolescents need different health, education and social services. Further, the right of adolescents below the age of 18 years to these services is enshrined in the Convention on the Rights of the Child. The reality is that in many places, neither the providers of these services nor the systems in which they operate are geared towards meeting the needs and fulfilling the rights of adolescents. To address this widely recognised gap, efforts are increasingly under way to build competence and empathy in teachers, health-care workers, social workers and others. However, these efforts need to be stepped up. Training and supporting service providers and reorienting the systems they are part of are crucial to delivering the many effective promotive, preventive and curative interventions available. Such efforts must go beyond perfunctory, top-down approaches to involving adolescents, community members, service providers and to define and implement evidence-based approaches that are tailored to the local context. It is just as important to build in assessment and accountability systems, with the meaningful involvement of adolescents.

Community norms and traditions have a powerful influence on health. They can – and, in some places, do – promote progressive and pro-social actions. In many places however, especially in relation to adolescent sexual and reproductive health, norms and traditions hinder rather than help. These include widespread unequal gender norms, norms that support harmful traditional practices such as female genital mutilation (FGM), norms that condone violence against women and girls, norms that shun discussion of sexuality and reproductive health services. Overcoming such norms and traditions will take the concerted application of approaches based on a sound understanding of the factors that drive them.

Laws and policies authorize the provision of health and social interventions to adolescents and require the relevant authorities to deliver them, provide the basis for the formulation of strategies and budgets, and signal the position of political leadership and government on important issues. Enabling laws and policies, such as those requiring governments to provide CSE, are in place in some countries. But they are the exception rather than the rule. In many places, major barriers include: Absence of enabling laws; the presence of contradictory laws, such as when a law or policy requiring the ministry of health to provide contraceptive information and services to all individuals of reproductive age is undermined by another law that requires mandatory parental consent for the provision of health services to legal minors; the presence of exceptions to laws, such as where age-of-marriage laws can be waived on different grounds; and the presence of restrictive laws, such as restrictions to the provision of safe abortion care. Legal and policy reform take time and effort. But, given their ultimate benefits, they are extremely important.

Although the structure of this document sets out groups of interventions intended to contribute to specific health outcomes, such as preventing and responding to STIs or to harmful traditional practices, both the determinants of problems and the responses to them are closely linked. Laws that require parental consent for legal minors to obtain health services hinder access to contraceptive information and services and, for example, to HIV testing and counselling. Social stigma can hinder care-seeking for intimate partner violence (IPV) and STIs. Health worker bias

can contribute to withholding of safe abortion services and contraceptive information services to unmarried adolescents, even if laws do not require health-care workers to do so. Programmatic responses are also intertwined. Building equitable gender norms through CSE can contribute to preventing gender-based violence and to promoting joint decision-making on contraception in couples. Finally, a caring and competent health-care worker can provide respectful care to a young single woman giving birth and address the distress of a young woman living with the consequences of FGM.

This compilation of the WHO guidelines on ASRHR intends to highlight these linkages and to press us to all to see adolescents' sexual and reproductive health needs and problems, and respond to them in an holistic manner.

Comprehensive sexuality education provision

2.1 Definitions

Comprehensive sexuality education (CSE) is a curriculum-based process of teaching and learning about the cognitive, emotional, physical and social aspects of sexuality. It aims to equip children and adolescents with knowledge, skills, attitudes and values that will empower them to realize their health, well-being and dignity; develop respectful social and sexual relationships; consider how their choices affect their own well-being and that of others; and understand and ensure the protection of their rights throughout their lives (*3,4*).

2.2 Rationale

Adolescents have a need for CSE. As they transition from childhood to adulthood, adolescents undergo a number of physical, emotional and social changes (4). Studies demonstrate that they are often unprepared for these changes. For example, substantial numbers of girls in many countries have knowledge gaps and misconceptions about menstruation that cause fear and anxiety and leave them unprepared when they begin menstruating (5). Similarly, critical gaps in knowledge exist among adolescent girls, especially in Africa and Asia, about where to obtain and how to use a range of modern contraceptive methods (6). Additionally, although comprehensive knowledge about HIV has increased, still only around 1 in 3 young men and women aged 15–24 years from 37 countries surveyed between 2011 and 2016 had comprehensive knowledge on how to prevent HIV transmission (7). Adolescents need knowledge and skills to make well-informed choices about their lives, learn how to avoid and deal with problems, and know where to seek help if necessary (4). CSE can help adolescents to develop knowledge and understanding; positive values, including respect for gender equality, diversity and human rights; and attitudes and skills that contribute to safe, healthy and positive relationships (4).

CSE has been shown to be effective. There is strong evidence for the positive effects of CSE on increasing adolescents' knowledge and improving their attitudes related to sexual and reproductive health (4). Research has also shown that curriculum-based CSE programmes can contribute to delayed initiation of sexual intercourse, decreased frequency of sexual intercourse, decreased number of sexual partners, reduced risk-taking, increased use of condoms, and increased use of contraception (4). There is no evidence that CSE increases sexual activity, sexual risk-taking behaviour, or rates of HIV or other STIs (4,8,9). School-based CSE has also been shown to be a cost-effective intervention to contribute to HIV prevention (10-12).

However, access to and provision of good-quality CSE programmes need attention. Most countries have policies or strategies that support CSE, but few have implemented and sustained large-scale CSE programmes (4,13). Many countries that have implemented large-scale CSE programmes struggle with ensuring quality and fidelity (4,13). Furthermore, the ability to access CSE is often based on being in school – but the most marginalized adolescents, who are often most at risk of adverse sexual and reproductive health outcomes, are often the least likely to be in school (14).

States have obligations under human rights law to provide comprehensive information and education to adolescents. CSE is part of the core obligations of states to uphold the right to sexual and reproductive health, which means it is considered one of the basic minimum actions states must take to give meaning to this right (15). According to human rights standards, such education should encompass self-awareness and knowledge about the body (including anatomical, physiological and emotional aspects) and sexual health and well-being (including information about body changes and maturation processes) (16). All children and adolescents, including those who are not in school, should have access to such information and education, which should be free, confidential, adolescent-responsive and non-discriminatory; barriers to such information, such as third-party authorization requirements, should be removed (15–17). In terms of format, human rights standards provide that such information should be available both online and in person, and that it should be age-appropriate, based on scientific evidence, and comprehensive and inclusive in its content (17). Human rights standards also call for CSE curricula to be developed with adolescents and to be part of the mandatory school curriculum (17).

2.3 Relevant WHO guidelines

2.3.1 WHO guidelines on preventing early pregnancy and poor reproductive outcomes among adolescents in developing countries. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011

This guideline (18), which is specific to adolescents, provides recommendations for action and research to prevent early pregnancy and poor reproductive outcomes among adolescents. Broadly, it recommends reducing marriage before the age of 18 years, reducing pregnancy before the age of 20 years, increasing use of contraception by adolescents at risk of unintended pregnancy, reducing coerced sex among adolescents, reducing unsafe abortion among adolescents, and increasing use of skilled antenatal, childbirth and postnatal care among adolescents. With regard to CSE, the guideline issues the following adolescent-specific recommendations:

Community:

 Advocate for adolescent pregnancy prevention among all stakeholders through interventions such as information provision, sexuality and health education, life skills building, contraceptive counselling and service provision, and creation of supportive environments.

Individual:

 Implement interventions at scale that provide accurate information and education about contraceptives, in particular curriculum-based sexuality education, to increase contraceptive use among adolescents. • Offer interventions that combine curriculum-based sexuality education with contraceptive promotion to adolescents, in order to reduce pregnancy rates.

2.3.2 Ensuring human rights in the provision of contraceptive information and services: guidance and recommendations. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014

This guideline (19), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides recommendations on high-priority actions to ensure human rights dimensions are systematically and clearly integrated into the provision of contraceptive information and services. Broadly, it recommends ensuring availability, accessibility, acceptability, quality and non-discrimination in the provision of contraceptive information and services, informed decision-making, privacy and confidentiality, participation and accountability. With regard to CSE, this guideline also issues the following adolescent-specific recommendation:

Individual:

• Provide scientifically accurate CSE programmes within and outside of schools that include information on contraceptive use and acquisition.

2.3.3 Consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for key populations: 2016 update. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016

This guideline (20), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, consolidates recommendations for HIV prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for five key populations: men who have sex with men; people who inject drugs; people in prisons and other closed settings; sex workers; and transgender people. Broadly, it introduces a comprehensive package of interventions and describes health sector interventions, critical enablers, service delivery, and the decision-making, planning and monitoring processes. With regard to CSE, this guideline includes the good practice recommendation that sexuality education programmes for adolescents, both in and outside of schools, should be scientifically accurate and comprehensive and include information on contraceptives, including how to use them and where to get them. It also promotes CSE as an approach to addressing social norms and stigma concerning sexuality, gender identities and sexual orientation.

2.4 Key concepts to consider

Around the world, there is deep-seated discomfort about adolescent sexuality, which contributes to legal and social barriers to the provision of CSE. In order to overcome these barriers, CSE needs to be placed on national agendas, and strategies need to be put in place to build community support for CSE and to identify and address factors at regional, national, community and individual levels that could contribute to resistance or backlash or stall implementation progress (4,18).

There is a widespread misconception that providing CSE will encourage adolescents to engage in early or risky sexual behaviour. As a result, the content of CSE curricula is often watered down or more limited than recommended by international guidance. Studies have shown that CSE does not increase sexual activity, sexual risk-taking behaviour or rates of HIV or other STIs (4,8,9). This

information should be communicated to advocate for the provision of comprehensive, accurate and age-appropriate information and education to adolescents (4,18,20).

Teachers often lack good quality training and support on CSE content and on strategies for participatory facilitation and non-judgemental, positive approaches. Concerted efforts must be made to ensure that teachers and schools are supported to deliver CSE effectively, and to engage parents and families in this process (4,18).



2.5 Key complementary documents in addition to the WHO guidelines

- Revised edition: International technical guidance on sexuality education an evidenceinformed approach. Paris: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization; 2018 (4)
- Standards for sexuality education in Europe: a framework for policy makers, educational and health authorities and specialists. Cologne: World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe and Federal Centre for Health Education; 2010 (21)
- Standards for sexuality education in Europe: guidance for implementation. Cologne: Federal Centre for Health Education; 2013 (22)
- Operational guidance for comprehensive sexuality education: a focus on human rights and gender. New York: United Nations Population Fund; 2014 (23)
- The evaluation of comprehensive sexuality education programmes: a focus on the gender and empowerment outcomes. New York: United Nations Population Fund; 2015 (24)

2.6 Real-life application of the guidelines

In 2008, 30 ministers of health and 26 ministers of education, or their personal representatives, from Latin America and the Caribbean made a regional commitment to sexuality education through the Preventing through Education Ministerial Declaration (25). This Declaration, which promised to implement and strengthen "multi-sectoral strategies of comprehensive sexuality education and promotion of sexual health, including HIV/STI prevention", has stimulated countries to re-examine their sexuality education policies and programmes (13).

Similarly, in 2013 health and education ministers and representatives from 20 countries in eastern and southern Africa made a regional commitment to support adolescents' access to CSE and sexual and reproductive health services (*26*). Led by the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), and with the support of the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO), the United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA), the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), WHO, bilateral and civil society partners and adolescents' organizations, the countries agreed on a common agenda to deliver CSE and youth-friendly sexual and reproductive health services to adolescents and youth in order to strengthen national responses to the HIV epidemic, to reduce early and unintended pregnancies, and to reinforce care and support for adolescents, particularly those living with HIV.

B Contraception counselling and provision

3.1 Definition

Contraception is the intentional prevention of pregnancy by artificial or natural means (3). Contraception allows people to attain their desired number of children and to determine the spacing of pregnancies by delaying or preventing childbearing. Numerous contraceptive options, designated by duration and context of use (long-acting, permanent, short-term, emergency) and by method of operation (hormonal, non-hormonal, barrier, fertility awareness-based), exist (27).

3.2 Rationale

Early pregnancies, both intended and unintended, among adolescents are an important problem. In 2016, an estimated 21 million girls aged 15–19 years in developing regions became pregnant, approximately 12 million of whom gave birth (28). Estimates suggest that 2.5 million girls aged under 16 years in low-resource countries give birth every year (29). For some adolescents, pregnancy and childbirth are planned and wanted. For others, they are not: Approximately half of pregnancies to girls aged 15–19 years in developing regions are unintended (28). Drivers of adolescent pregnancies are context-specific and can include child marriage, poverty, lack of opportunity, and social or cultural values related to womanhood and motherhood (30).

Early pregnancies among adolescents have major health and social consequences. With regard to health consequences, pregnancy and childbirth complications are the leading cause of death among girls aged 15–19 years globally, with low- and middle-income countries accounting for 99% of global maternal deaths of women aged 15–49 years (31,32). Adolescent mothers aged 10–19 years face higher risks of eclampsia, puerperal endometritis and systemic infections than women aged 20–24 years (33). Additionally, some 3.9 million unsafe abortions among girls aged 15–19 years occur each year, contributing to maternal mortality, morbidity and lasting health problems (28). Early childbearing can increase risks for newborns as well as young mothers. Babies born to mothers under 20 years of age face higher risks of low birth weight, preterm delivery and severe neonatal conditions (33). In some settings, rapid repeat pregnancy is a concern for young mothers, which presents further risks for both the mother and the child (34,35).

With regard to social consequences, unmarried pregnant adolescents may face stigma, rejection or violence by partners, parents and peers (*30*). Girls who become pregnant before the age of 18 years are more likely to experience violence within a marriage or partnership (*36*). Adolescent pregnancy may also jeopardize girls' future education and employment opportunities (*30,37*).

Promotion of contraceptive use to address early pregnancies among adolescents has been shown to be effective. By preventing early and unintended pregnancies, contraception can help to reduce maternal and newborn mortality and morbidity and decrease the need for unsafe abortion (28). Furthermore, male and female condoms provide dual protection against unintended pregnancies and STIs, including HIV (38). If unmet need for contraception among adolescents were to be met, the associated health, social and economic costs of 2.1 million unplanned births, 3.2 million abortions and 5600 maternal deaths could be averted (28).

However, laws and policies and provision of good-quality services need attention. Twenty-three million adolescents aged 15–19 years have an unmet need for modern contraception and are at risk of unintended pregnancy (28). Some girls are not aware of the benefits of contraception (39). Girls who are aware of the benefits and wish to access contraception face numerous barriers, including restrictive laws and policies regarding provision of contraception based on age or marital status, health-care provider bias or lack of willingness to acknowledge adolescents' sexual and reproductive health needs, and adolescents' own inability to access contraceptives because of knowledge, transportation and financial constraints (39). Even when adolescents are able to obtain and use contraceptives, they face barriers that prevent use, or consistent and correct use, including pressure to have children, stigma surrounding non-marital sexual activity or contraceptive use, fear of side-effects, lack of knowledge on correct use, and factors contributing to discontinuation (e.g. hesitation to go back and seek contraceptives because of negative first experiences with health-care providers or health systems; changing reproductive needs among adolescents are greater than in any other age group (28).

States have obligations under human rights law to provide contraceptive information and services to adolescents. States are obliged to adopt legal and policy measures to ensure access of all individuals, including adolescents, to affordable, safe and effective contraceptives (15). Adolescents should have easy access to short-term, long-acting and permanent contraceptives, and such access must not be hampered by their marital status or providers' conscientious objections (16). Contraceptive information and services, including emergency contraception, as part of sexual and reproductive health services, should be free, confidential, adolescent-responsive and non-discriminatory, and barriers to services such as third-party authorization requirements should be removed (15,17).

3.3 Relevant WHO guidelines

3.3.1 WHO guidelines on preventing early pregnancy and poor reproductive outcomes among adolescents in developing countries. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011

This guideline (18), which is specific to adolescents, provides recommendations for action and research to prevent early pregnancy and poor reproductive outcomes among adolescents. Broadly, it recommends reducing marriage before the age of 18 years, reducing pregnancy before the age of 20 years, increasing use of contraception by adolescents at risk of unintended pregnancy, reducing coerced sex among adolescents, reducing unsafe abortion among adolescents, and increasing use of skilled antenatal, childbirth and postnatal care among adolescents. With regard to contraception, the guideline issues the following adolescent-specific recommendations:

Policy:

- Advocate for adolescent pregnancy prevention among all stakeholders through interventions such as information provision, sexuality and health education, life skills building, contraceptive counselling and service provision, and creation of supportive environments.
- Undertake efforts with political leaders and planners to formulate laws and policies to increase adolescent access to contraceptive information and services, including emergency contraceptives.

Community:

 Undertake interventions to influence community members to support access to contraceptives for adolescents.

Health facility:

- Implement interventions to improve health service delivery to adolescents as a means of facilitating their access to and use of contraceptive information and services.
- Implement interventions to reduce the financial cost of contraceptives to adolescents (conditional recommendation).
- Ensure adolescents who have had abortions can obtain post-abortion contraceptive information and services, regardless of whether the abortion was legal.
- Offer and promote postpartum and post-abortion contraception to adolescents through multiple home or clinic visits to reduce the chances of second pregnancies among adolescents.

Individual:

- Implement interventions at scale that provide accurate information and education about contraceptives, in particular curriculum-based sexuality education, in order to increase contraceptive use among adolescents.
- Offer interventions that combine curriculum-based sexuality education with contraceptive promotion to adolescents, in order to reduce pregnancy rates.

3.3.2 Ensuring human rights in the provision of contraceptive information and services: guidance and recommendations. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014

This guideline (19), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides recommendations on high-priority actions to ensure human rights dimensions are systematically and clearly integrated into the provision of contraceptive information and services. Broadly, it focuses on ensuring availability, accessibility, acceptability, quality and non-discrimination in the provision of contraceptive information and services, along with promoting informed decision-making, privacy and confidentiality, participation and accountability. With regard to contraception, this guideline also issues the following adolescent-specific recommendations:

Health facility:

 Improve access to comprehensive contraceptive information and services for users and potential users with difficulties in accessing services (e.g. rural residents, urban poor people, adolescents). Safe abortion information and services should also be provided according to existing WHO guidelines.

- Eliminate financial barriers to contraceptive use by marginalized populations, including adolescents and poor people, and make contraceptives affordable to all.
- Provide sexual and reproductive health services, including contraceptive information and services, for adolescents without mandatory parental and guardian authorization or notification, in order to meet the educational and service needs of adolescents.

Individual:

 Provide scientifically accurate CSE programmes within and outside of schools that include information on contraceptive use and acquisition.

3.3.3 Medical eligibility criteria for contraceptive use, 5th edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015

This guideline (40), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides recommendations on the safety of contraceptive methods for use in the context of specific health conditions and characteristics. Broadly, it assigns a numerical category, ranging from 1 to 4,¹ to designate whether a woman or man is medically eligible to use a contraceptive method. Some recommendations are also assigned as category C (caution),² D (delay) or S (special). Eligibility may vary, depending on whether use of a contraceptive method affects the person's health condition(s), or conversely whether the person's health condition(s) affect(s) the effectiveness or safety of the contraceptive method. In general, adolescents can use any hormonal or non-hormonal contraceptive method (including emergency contraception), regardless of age. This guideline issues the same recommendations on safety profiles for adolescents as for adults, with three exceptions:

- Male and female sterilization (category C): young women and men, like all women and men, should be counselled about the permanency of sterilization and the availability of alternative, long-term, highly effective methods.
- Depot medroxyprogesterone acetate/norethisterone enanthate (DMPA/NET-EN) (category 2): young women (menarche to less than 18 years) can generally use³ DMPA/NET-EN, despite its potential effects on bone mineral density in adolescents. Young women (menarche to less than 18 years) with a body mass index of less than or equal to 30 kg/m² can generally use DMPA/NET-EN.
- Combined hormonal contraception (category 1): women from menarche to less than 40 years
 of age can use combined hormonal contraception (combined oral contraceptives, combined
 contraceptive patch, combined contraceptive vaginal ring, combined injectable contraceptives)
 without restriction, despite potential effects on bone mineral density in adolescents, especially
 in those choosing very-low-dose formulations.

¹ Category 1: a condition for which there is no restriction for the use of the contraceptive method; category 2: a condition where the advantages of using the method generally outweigh the theoretical or proven risks; category 3: a condition where the theoretical or proven risks usually outweigh the advantages of using the method; category 4: a condition that represents an unacceptable health risk if the contraceptive method is used.

² Caution: the method is normally provided in a routine setting, but with extra preparation and precautions. For fertility-awareness based methods, this usually means that special counselling may be needed to ensure correct use of the method by a woman in this circumstance.

³ WHO uses the language "can generally use" with regard to category 2 conditions. Although, by definition, the advantages of using the method generally outweigh the theoretical or proven risks related to these conditions, in some cases additional follow-up with young women may be appropriate.

3.3.4 Selected practice recommendations for contraceptive use. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016

This guideline (41), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, complements the WHO Medical Eligibility Criteria for Contraceptive Use (40) and provides guidance on how to use contraceptive methods safely and effectively once they are deemed to be medically appropriate. Broadly, it describes safety considerations, including common barriers to safe, correct and consistent use of contraception, and the benefits of preventing unintended pregnancy.

3.3.5 Responding to children and adolescents who have been sexually abused: WHO clinical guidelines. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017

This guideline (42), which is specific to adolescents and children (aged 0–18 years), provides recommendations on the provision of good-quality trauma-informed care to survivors of sexual abuse. Broadly, it covers recommendations for post-rape care and good practices for taking medical histories, conducting examination, providing psychological support, and documenting findings. Importantly, these guidelines also highlight ethical considerations when health-care providers are mandated to report child and adolescent sexual abuse to designated authorities. Additionally, this guideline emphasizes the importance of promoting safety, offering choices, and respecting the wishes and autonomy of children and adolescents, for example regarding the engagement of caregivers. With regard to contraception, this guideline issues the following adolescent-specific recommendation:

Health facility:

• Offer emergency contraception to girls who have been raped involving penovaginal penetration and who present within 120 hours (5 days) of the incident.

3.3.6 Consolidated guideline on sexual and reproductive health and rights of women living with HIV. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017

This guideline (43), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, consolidates recommendations on the sexual and reproductive health and rights specific to women living with HIV. Broadly, the guideline describes strategies for creating an enabling environment and providing health interventions for the sexual and reproductive health and rights of women living with HIV. It also discusses implementation issues that health and service delivery interventions must address in order to achieve gender equality and support human rights.

3.3.7 Guidance statement: hormonal contraceptive eligibility for women at high risk of HIV. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017

This guidance statement (44), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides recommendations on the use of hormonal contraceptive methods by women at high risk of HIV. Broadly, the recommendations for use of progestogen-only injectables among women at high

risk of HIV changed from category 1 to category 2,¹ with an accompanying clarification,⁴ in the WHO *Medical Eligibility Criteria for Contraceptive Use (40)*.

3.3.8 WHO recommendations on health promotion interventions for maternal and newborn health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015

This guideline (45), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, consolidates recommendations on health promotion interventions for maternal and newborn health. Broadly, it describes recommendations for improving maternal and newborn health; improving the care provided within the household by women and families; increasing community support for maternal and newborn health; and increasing access to, and use of, skilled care.

3.3.9 Responding to intimate partner violence and sexual violence against women: WHO clinical and policy guidelines. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013

This guideline (46), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides evidence-based guidance on responding to IPV and sexual violence against women, along with strategies to improve coordination and financing of services. It also discusses strategies to increase attention to responding to sexual violence and IPV in health-care provider training programmes. Broadly, it covers clinical care for IPV and for sexual assault, and policy and programmatic approaches to delivering services. With regard to contraception, the guideline issues recommendations for the provision of emergency contraception for survivors of sexual assault.

3.4 Key concepts to consider

In many places, laws and policies prevent the provision of contraception based on age or marital status (39). Age alone does not constitute a medical reason for denying any method of contraception to adolescents (40). Laws and policies that support adolescents' access to contraception, regardless of age and marital status, and without mandatory parental or spousal authorization or notification, are critical for adolescent-friendly service provision (18,19).

Many adolescents have misconceptions about contraception (e.g. "contraception causes infertility") or do not know where and how to obtain contraceptive information or services (39). CSE is an effective way to reach and inform adolescents about contraception and other sexual and reproductive health topics (18). The same content should be given to in-school and out-of-school adolescents, with recognition that there are challenges to delivering curriculum-based approaches out of schools (4). CSE should be complemented by other interventions, including those to engage parents, teachers and other gatekeepers (18).

⁴ There continues to be evidence of a possible increased risk of acquiring HIV among women who use progestogen-only injectables. Uncertainty exists about whether this is due to methodological issues with the evidence or a real biological effect. In many settings, unintended pregnancies or pregnancy-related morbidity and mortality are common, and progestogen-only injectables are among the few methods widely available. Women should not be denied the use of progestogen-only injectables because of concerns about the possible increased risk. Women considering using progestogen-only injectables should be advised about these concerns, about the uncertainty over whether there is a causal relationship, and about how to minimize their risk of acquiring HIV.

Contraceptive services and health-care providers are often not adolescent-friendly (39). WHO standards for good-quality health-care services for adolescents include considerations related to adolescents' health literacy, community support, appropriate packages of services, health-care providers' competencies, facility characteristics, equity and non-discrimination, data and quality improvement, and adolescent participation (47). Even when there are no legal or policy restrictions to providing adolescents with contraceptive information and services, there is a need to overcome health-care provider biases and misconceptions regarding contraceptive use by adolescents (18).

The contraceptive needs of adolescents are diverse and evolving (39). Some adolescents may choose not to be sexually active, some may choose to be sexually active, and some may be put in situations where they are expected to be sexually active, regardless of their wishes or choices. As such, complementary strategies must be used to respond to the differing needs of different adolescent populations (18). Additionally, programmes must address the needs of special populations of adolescents, including adolescents with disabilities, adolescents with chronic diseases, migrants and refugees (19).



3.5 Key complementary documents in addition to the WHO guidelines

- Medical eligibility criteria wheel for contraceptive use. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (48)
- Family planning: a global handbook for providers (2018 edition). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (38)
- Compendium of WHO recommendations for postpartum family planning. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (49)
- Training resource package for family planning. Geneva: World Health Organization (https:// www.fptraining.org/) (50)
- Task shifting to improve access to contraceptive methods. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (51)
- Reducing early and unintended pregnancies among adolescents: evidence brief. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 *(52)*
- Task sharing to improve access to family planning/contraception: summary brief. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (53)
- Adolescents and family planning: what the evidence shows. Washington, DC: International Center for Research on Women; 2014 (54)
- High-impact Practices (HIPs) in family planning: adolescent-friendly contraceptive services mainstreaming adolescent-friendly elements into existing contraceptive services. Washington, DC: United States Agency for International Development; 2015 (55)
- Youth contraceptive use: effective interventions a reference guide. Washington, DC: Population Reference Bureau; 2017 (56)
- Global consensus statement for expanding contraceptive choice for adolescents and youth to include long-acting reversible contraception. Washington, DC: Family Planning 2020; 2017 (57)

3.6 Real-life application of the guidelines

In 2017, as part of the Family Planning Umbrella Project, the latest WHO guidelines and recommendations related to contraception were disseminated and shared with policy-makers, programmers, civil society, nongovernmental organizations, academia, and WHO and other United Nations staff in three WHO regions (Africa, Eastern Mediterranean, South East Asia) (58). As a next step, these stakeholders oriented country staff on the recommendations and updated their national guidelines and training materials. Since then, 47 countries (20 completed, 27 ongoing) have updated their national guidelines on family planning and reproductive health policies based on the *Medical Eligibility Criteria for Contraceptive Use (40)*. All 47 countries agreed to use one job aid – the WHO *Medical Eligibility Criteria Wheel for Contraceptive Use (48)*. Special efforts were made to address the contraceptive needs of adolescents, including updating the recommendations in national policies, guidelines and training materials.

Antenatal, intrapartum and postnatal care

4.1 Definitions

Antenatal care is care provided by skilled health-care professionals to pregnant women and adolescent girls in order to ensure the best health conditions for both mother and baby during pregnancy (59).

Intrapartum care is care provided by skilled health-care professionals to women and adolescent girls during childbirth in order to ensure the best health conditions for both mother and baby (60).

Postnatal care is care provided by skilled health-care professionals to women and adolescent girls and their babies up to six weeks following childbirth in order to ensure the best health conditions for both mother and baby *(60)*.

4.2 Rationale

In many contexts, adolescent pregnancy is common. In 2016 an estimated 21 million girls aged 15–19 years in developing regions became pregnant, approximately 12 million of whom gave birth *(28)*. Estimates suggest that 2.5 million girls aged under 16 years in low-resource countries give birth every year *(29)*. For some adolescents, pregnancy and childbirth are planned and wanted. For others, they are not: approximately half of pregnancies to girls aged 15–19 years in developing regions are unintended *(28)*. Drivers of adolescent pregnancies are context-specific and can include child marriage, poverty, lack of opportunity, and social or cultural values related to womanhood and motherhood *(30)*.

Adverse maternal health outcomes among adolescents have major health and social consequences. With regard to health consequences, pregnancy and childbirth complications are the leading cause of death among girls aged 15–19 years globally, with low- and middle-income countries accounting for 99% of maternal deaths of women aged 15–49 years in 2015 (*31,32*). Globally, maternal mortality is higher for girls aged 10–14 years than for women and girls aged 15–29 years (*61*). Adolescent mothers (aged 10–19 years) face higher risks of eclampsia, puerperal endometritis and systemic infections than mothers aged 20–24 years (*33*). Additionally, some 3.9 million unsafe abortions among girls aged 15–19 years occur each year in the developing world, contributing to maternal mortality, morbidity and lasting health problems (*28*). Early childbearing can increase risks for newborns as well as young mothers: Babies born to mothers under 20 years of age face higher risks of low birth weight, preterm delivery and severe neonatal conditions (*33*). In some settings, rapid repeat pregnancy is a concern for young mothers, which presents further risks for both the mother and the child (*34,35*).

With regard to social consequences, unmarried pregnant adolescents may face stigma, rejection or violence by partners, parents and peers (*30*). Similarly, girls who become pregnant before age 18 years are more likely to experience violence within a marriage or partnership than those who postpone childbearing (*36*). Adolescent pregnancy may also jeopardize girls' future education and employment opportunities (*30,37*).

Antenatal, intrapartum and postnatal care are effective. The health benefits of these interventions are clear and well established for adolescent mothers and their children, with no ascertainable harms or burdens (60). Most maternal deaths are preventable by well-known medical interventions (1).

However, access to and provision of good-quality services need attention. Adolescents may face barriers to accessing and using skilled care before, during and after pregnancy *(62).* Certain subgroups of adolescents, such as very young adolescents, unmarried adolescents, refugees and adolescents in humanitarian crises situations, may face special barriers to accessing care *(63).*

States have obligations under human rights law to provide antenatal, intrapartum and postnatal care to adolescents. Ensuring reproductive and maternal health is considered comparable to a core obligation under the right to health, which means it is one of the basic minimum actions states must take to give meaning to this right (64). Upholding adolescents' rights in this area is integrally linked to state obligations to ensure universal access to a comprehensive package of sexual and reproductive health interventions before, during and after pregnancy (16). Maternal health care, as part of sexual and reproductive health, should be free, confidential, adolescent-responsive and non-discriminatory, and barriers to services such as third-party authorization requirements should be removed (15,17).

4.3 Relevant WHO guidelines⁵

4.3.1 WHO guidelines on preventing early pregnancy and poor reproductive outcomes among adolescents in developing countries. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011

This guideline (18), which is specific to adolescents, provides recommendations for action and research to prevent early pregnancy and poor reproductive outcomes among adolescents. Broadly, it recommends reducing marriage before the age of 18 years, reducing pregnancy before the age of 20 years, increasing use of contraception by adolescents at risk of unintended pregnancy, reducing coerced sex among adolescents, reducing unsafe abortion among adolescents, and increasing use of skilled antenatal, childbirth and postnatal care among adolescents. With regard to antenatal, intrapartum and postnatal care, the guideline issues the following adolescent-specific recommendations:

⁵ In 2017 WHO consolidated its recommendations on maternal health issued before and during 2017 into the document WHO Recommendations on Maternal Health (65). Broadly, this covers health interventions that should be delivered during pregnancy, childbirth and the postnatal period, along with health behaviours that women should practise (or not practise) during these periods to care for themselves and their babies. In 2013 WHO consolidated its recommendations on postnatal care of the mother and newborn issued before and during 2013 into the document WHO Recommendations on Postnatal Care of the Mother and Newborn (66). Broadly, this guideline addresses timing, number and place of postnatal contacts, and content of postnatal care for all mothers and babies during the six weeks after birth.

Health facility:

- Promote birth and emergency preparedness in antenatal care strategies for pregnant adolescents in household, community and health facility settings.
- Expand the availability and access to basic emergency obstetric care and comprehensive emergency obstetric care to all populations, including adolescents.

Individual:

- Provide information to all pregnant adolescents and other stakeholders about the importance of using skilled antenatal care.
- Provide information to all pregnant adolescents and other stakeholders about the importance of using skilled childbirth care.

4.3.2 WHO recommendations on antenatal care for a positive pregnancy experience. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016

This guideline (59), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides comprehensive recommendations on routine antenatal care for pregnant women and adolescent girls. Broadly, it describes evidence-based practices during antenatal care that improve outcomes and lead to a positive pregnancy experience. It complements existing WHO guidelines on the management of specific pregnancy-related complications.

4.3.3 Use of multiple micronutrient powders for point-of-use fortification of foods consumed by pregnant women. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016

This guideline (67), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides guidance on the effects and safety of the use of multiple micronutrient powders for point-of-use fortification of foods consumed by pregnant women. Broadly, it states that routine use of multiple micronutrient powders during pregnancy is not recommended as an alternative to standard iron and folic supplementation during pregnancy for improving maternal and newborn health outcomes.

4.3.4 Optimal serum and red blood cell folate concentrations in women of reproductive age for prevention of neural tube defects. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015

This guideline (68), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides guidance on the optimal serum and red blood cell folate concentrations in women of reproductive age for prevention of neural tube defects. Broadly, it includes the genetic, biological and sociodemographic determinants of folate status; blood folate concentrations and risk of neural tube defects; and the response of serum/plasma and red blood cell folate concentrations to nutrition interventions.

4.3.5 Guidelines for the identification and management of substance use and substance use disorders in pregnancy. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014

This guideline (69), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, consolidates recommendations for identifying and managing substance use and substance use disorders in pregnant women. Broadly, it focuses on screening and brief interventions, psychosocial interventions, detoxification, dependence management, infant feeding and management of infant withdrawal.

4.3.6 WHO recommendations for prevention and treatment of pre-eclampsia and eclampsia. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011

This guideline (70), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides recommendations to optimize health care for women presenting with pre-eclampsia and eclampsia. Broadly, it covers rest; dietary salt restriction; calcium and vitamin D supplementation; medications; and interventionist versus expectant care for severe pre-eclampsia before term, induction of labour for pre-eclampsia at term, and prevention and treatment of postpartum hypertension.

4.3.7 WHO recommendations for induction of labour. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011

This guideline (71), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides recommendations for improving the quality of care and outcomes for pregnant women undergoing induction of labour in under-resourced settings. Broadly, it covers situations when induction of labour may be appropriate, methods for inducing labour, management of adverse events related to induction of labour, and appropriate settings for induction of labour.

4.3.8 WHO recommendations for augmentation of labour. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014

This guideline (72), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides recommendations for interventions to reduce the global burden of prolonged labour and its consequences. Broadly, it focuses on diagnosis and prevention of delay in the first stage of labour, treatment of delay in the first stage of labour with augmentation and care during labour augmentation.

4.3.9 WHO recommendations for intrapartum care for a positive childbirth experience. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018

This guideline (73), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides comprehensive recommendations on essential intrapartum care practices that all pregnant women and adolescent girls should receive to facilitate a positive childbirth experience. Broadly, it describes evidence-based practices during intrapartum care that improve outcomes and lead to a positive childbirth experience, and it complements existing WHO guidelines on the management of specific-pregnancy related complications.

4.3.10 WHO recommendations for prevention and treatment of maternal peripartum infections. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015

This guideline (74), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, consolidates recommendations on effective interventions to reduce the global burden of maternal infections and their complications around the time of childbirth. Broadly, it describes evidence-based recommendations on interventions for preventing and treating genital tract infections during labour, childbirth or the puerperium, with the aim of improving outcomes for both mothers and newborns.

4.3.11 WHO recommendations for the prevention and treatment of postpartum haemorrhage. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012

This guideline (75), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides recommendations for general principles of postpartum haemorrhage care. Broadly, it covers prevention of postpartum haemorrhage (uterotonics, cord management and uterine massage, active management of the third stage of labour), prevention of postpartum haemorrhage in caesarean sections, treatment of postpartum haemorrhage (uterotonics, fluid resuscitation and tranexamic acid, manoeuvres, other procedures) and treatment of retained placenta.

4.3.12 WHO recommendations on tranexamic acid for the treatment of postpartum haemorrhage. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017

This guideline (76), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides updated recommendations on the use of tranexamic acid for postpartum haemorrhage treatment in response to important new evidence on this intervention. It supersedes the previous recommendation on tranexamic acid for postpartum haemorrhage treatment, which was issued in the 2012 *WHO Recommendations for the Prevention and Treatment of Postpartum Haemorrhage (75)*. Broadly, the guideline states that early use of intravenous tranexamic acid (within three hours of birth) in addition to standard care is recommended for women with clinically diagnosed postpartum haemorrhage following vaginal birth or caesarean section.

4.3.13 Daily iron supplementation in postpartum women: guideline. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016

This guideline (77), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides a conditional recommendation for oral iron supplementation for women 6–12 weeks postpartum to improve maternal and infant health outcomes.

4.3.14 Optimizing health worker roles to improve access to key maternal and newborn health interventions through task shifting. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012

This guideline (78), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides recommendations for addressing critical health workforce shortages related to the provision of maternal and newborn health interventions. Broadly, it outlines recommended interventions for lay health workers, auxiliary nurses, auxiliary nurse midwives, nurses, midwives, associate (non-physician) clinicians, advanced-level associate (non-physician) clinicians, and non-specialist doctors.

4.3.15 WHO recommendations on health promotion interventions for maternal and newborn health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015

This guideline (45), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, consolidates recommendations on health promotion interventions for maternal and newborn health. Broadly, it describes interventions related to birth preparedness and complication readiness, male involvement for maternal and newborn health, partnership with traditional birth attendants, provision of culturally appropriate skilled maternity care, companion of choice at birth, community mobilization through facilitated participatory learning and action cycles, and community participation in quality-improvement processes and programme planning and implementation.

4.3.16 WHO recommendation on community mobilization through facilitated participatory learning and action cycles with women's groups for maternal and newborn health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014

This guideline (79), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides recommendations for community mobilization through facilitated participatory learning and action cycles with women's groups for maternal and newborn health. It also provides recommendations for increasing knowledge of interventions important for improving maternal and newborn health; improving the care provided within the household by women and families; increasing community support for maternal and newborn health; and increasing access to, and use of, skilled care.

4.4 Key concepts to consider

Pregnant adolescents, especially pregnant unmarried adolescents, often face barriers to accessing maternal health services, including antenatal, intrapartum and postnatal care. Barriers to access include lack of information on the importance of using maternal health services, lack of confidentiality, and stigma (18). Efforts should be made to ensure the availability of and access to antenatal, intrapartum and postnatal care, including basic emergency obstetric care and comprehensive emergency obstetric care (18).

Antenatal, intrapartum and postnatal services are often not responsive to the needs of adolescents. It is critical that health-care providers receive appropriate ongoing training and support to ensure they have the knowledge, understanding and skills to provide high-quality adolescent-friendly antenatal, intrapartum and postnatal care, based on the right of all people to health, confidentiality and non-discrimination (18).



4.5 Key complementary documents in addition to the WHO guidelines

- Pregnancy, childbirth, postpartum and newborn care: a guide for essential practice, 3rd edn. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 *(60)*
- Managing complications in pregnancy and childbirth: a guide for midwives and doctors, 2nd edn. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (80)
- Companion of choice during labour and childbirth for improved quality of care: evidence-toaction brief. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (81)
- Prevention and elimination of disrespect and abuse during childbirth. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (82)
- Strengthening midwifery toolkit. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011 (83)
- Obstetric fistula: guiding principles for clinical management and programme development. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2006 *(84)*
- Tibingana-Ahimbisibwe B, Katabira C, Mpalampa L, Harrison RA. The effectiveness of adolescent-specific prenatal interventions on improving attendance and reducing harm during and after birth: a systematic review. Int J Adolesc Med Health. 2016;30:(3) (85)

4.6 Real-life application of the guidelines

The GREAT (Guideline-driven, Research priorities, Evidence synthesis, Application of evidence, and Transfer of knowledge) Network was established in 2012 by WHO, St Michael's Hospital, University of Toronto, and international partnerships with low- and middle-income countries to provide guidance and support to health-care system stakeholders on implementation of relevant evidence-based guidelines on maternal and perinatal health (86). The GREAT Network piloted its two-day meeting model with relevant stakeholders, including clinicians (obstetricians, midwives), managers, researchers and policy-makers and WHO in 2012. Focus groups were conducted to identify barriers and facilitators to guideline implementation; then a prioritization meeting was used to establish common priorities using a nominal group process (87) and the Research and Development (RAND) appropriateness method (88). This process led to a set of recommendations to address barriers for implementation of maternal and perinatal health guidelines, along with working groups to support the delivery of the tailored implementation strategy, based on the established priorities (89). The GREAT Network model was later replicated in Ethiopia, Myanmar, Uganda and the United Republic of Tanzania (90).

Safe abortion care



5.1 Definitions

Induced abortion refers to the intentional loss of an intrauterine pregnancy due to medical or surgical means (91).

Safe abortion refers to abortion that is done with a method recommended by WHO (medical abortion, vacuum aspiration, dilatation and evacuation), is appropriate to the pregnancy duration, and is provided by a trained health-care provider (92).

Less safe abortion refers to abortion that meets only one of two criteria – either the abortion is done by a trained health-care provider but with an outdated method (e.g. sharp curettage), or a safe method of abortion (e.g. misoprostol) is used but without adequate information or support from a trained individual (92).

Least safe abortion refers to abortion provided by untrained individuals using dangerous methods (e.g. ingestion of caustic substances, insertion of foreign bodies, use of traditional concoctions) (92).

5.2 Rationale

Unsafe abortions among adolescents are an important problem. An estimated 3.9 million girls aged 15–19 years undergo unsafe abortions every year in the developing world (28).

Unsafe abortions among adolescents have major health consequences. Approximately 8% of maternal mortality among all women between 2003 and 2012 was attributable to abortion (93). Compared with older women, adolescents are more likely to seek abortions from untrained providers, to have a self-induced abortion, to terminate their pregnancies after the first trimester when the procedure is more dangerous, and to delay seeking medical care for complications following unsafe abortions; they are less likely to know about their rights concerning abortion and post-abortion care and to report having had an abortion (94).

Safe abortion care carries low health risk. The people, skills and medical standards considered safe in the provision of abortion are different for medical and surgical abortion and also depend on the duration of the pregnancy (95). Safe abortion can have a lower risk than an injection of penicillin or carrying a pregnancy to term (95,96).

However, abortion-related laws and policies and provision of good-quality services need attention. Access to safe abortion services is highly restricted in many countries, despite evidence that restrictive abortion laws are associated with higher levels of maternal mortality (97,98). Countries often further restrict adolescent access to safe legal abortion through policy interventions related to consent (parental, spousal, health-care provider), age, marital status, and restrictions on information provided to the public (94, 99). Where safe abortion care is available to adolescents, it is often not adolescent-friendly (94, 99). Meanwhile, evidence increasingly shows that, where abortion is legal on broad socioeconomic grounds and on a woman's request, and where safe services are accessible, both unsafe abortion and abortion-related mortality and morbidity are reduced (96, 100, 101).

States have obligations under human rights law to provide safe abortion care to adolescents. Implementation of measures to prevent unsafe abortion and provide post-abortion care comprises part of the core obligation of states to uphold the right to sexual and reproductive health, which means it is one of the basic minimum actions states must take to give meaning to this right (15). With specific regard to adolescents, states are obliged to ensure universal access to a comprehensive package of sexual and reproductive health interventions, including safe abortion and post-abortion care, irrespective of whether the abortion itself is legal (16). Human rights mechanisms have also called for the decriminalization of abortion with a view to ensuring access to safe abortion and post-abortion care for girls (15,17). Removal of barriers such as third-party consent requirements also forms part of states' obligations in relation to provision of safe abortion, as a component of sexual and reproductive health services (15,17). Denial of abortion and forced continuation of pregnancy have also been identified as forms of gender-based violence, which invokes states' obligations to pursue all appropriate means for the elimination of such violence (102).

5.3 Relevant WHO guidelines

5.3.1 Safe abortion: technical and policy guidance for health systems. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012

This guideline (95), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, consolidates recommendations for the provision of safe abortion care. Broadly, it describes methods for surgical abortion, medical abortion, abortion for pregnancies of gestational age over 12–14 weeks, care preceding induced abortion, and post-abortion care. This guideline issues the following adolescent-specific recommendation:

Policy:

 An enabling environment is needed to ensure that every woman who is legally eligible has ready access to safe abortion care. Gear policies to respect, protect and fulfil the human rights of women, to achieve positive health outcomes for women, to provide good-quality contraceptive information and services, and to meet the particular needs of poor women, adolescents, survivors of rape, and women living with HIV.

5.3.2 WHO guidelines on preventing early pregnancy and poor reproductive outcomes among adolescents in developing countries. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011

This guideline (18), which is specific to adolescents, provides recommendations for action and research to prevent early pregnancy and poor reproductive outcomes among adolescents. Broadly, it recommends reducing marriage before the age of 18 years, reducing pregnancy before the age of 20 years, increasing use of contraception by adolescents at risk of unintended pregnancy, reducing coerced sex among adolescents, reducing unsafe abortion among adolescents, and increasing use of skilled antenatal, childbirth and postnatal care among adolescents. With regard to abortion, the guideline issues the following adolescent-specific recommendations:

Policy:

• Ensure laws and policies enable adolescents to obtain safe abortion services.

Community:

Identify and overcome barriers to the provision of safe abortion services for adolescent girls.

Health facility:

- Ensure adolescents have access to post-abortion care as a life-saving medical intervention, regardless of whether the abortion or attempted abortion was legal.
- Ensure adolescents who have had abortions can obtain post-abortion contraceptive information and services, regardless of whether the abortion was legal.

Individual:

 Enable adolescents to obtain safe abortion services by informing them and other stakeholders about the dangers of unsafe methods of interrupting a pregnancy, the safe abortion services that are legally available, and where and under what circumstances abortion services can be legally obtained.

5.3.3 Health worker roles in providing safe abortion care and post-abortion contraception. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015

This guideline (103), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, consolidates recommendations on the safety, effectiveness, feasibility and acceptability of involving a range of health-care providers in the delivery of recommended and effective interventions for providing safe abortion and post-abortion care, including post-abortion contraception. Broadly, it provides clinical guidelines on provision of information about safe abortion, provision of pre- and post-abortion counselling, management of abortion and post-abortion care in the first trimester and beyond, management of non-life-threatening complications, and provision of post-abortion contraception.

5.3.4 Consolidated guideline on sexual and reproductive health and rights of women living with HIV. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017

This guideline (43), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, consolidates recommendations on the sexual and reproductive health and rights specific to women living with HIV. Broadly, this guideline describes strategies for creating an enabling environment and providing health interventions for the sexual and reproductive health and rights of women living with HIV. It also discusses implementation issues that health and service delivery interventions must address in order to achieve gender equality and support human rights.
5.4 Key concepts to consider

Restrictive laws and policies often force adolescents who need safe abortion care to seek illegal and unsafe abortions (98). Abortion laws and policies should not create situations that lead adolescents to seek unsafe abortions (95). Instead, laws and policies should promote the respect and protection of women and girls; this includes supporting reductions in maternal mortality and morbidity due to unsafe abortion by ensuring that every woman and girl can access safe and timely services. Additionally, laws and policies should prevent and address stigma and discrimination against women and girls who seek abortion services or post-abortion care (18,95).

Adolescents are less likely than adult women to obtain safe abortion services (94). Adolescents and other stakeholders need to be informed about the dangers of unsafe abortions, the safe abortion services that are legally available, and where and under what circumstances abortion services can be legally obtained (18).

Abortion services and health-care providers are often not adolescent-friendly (99). Health-care providers should be trained and supported to inform, counsel and provide services to adolescents according to their evolving capacities, and to be responsive to the specific needs of different groups of adolescents (18). Abortion services should be non-judgemental, be free of coercion, and respect women and girls' informed and voluntary decision-making, autonomy, confidentiality and privacy to terminate an unwanted, mistimed or unplanned pregnancy (18,95,104,105). Services should be available at the primary-care level, with referral systems in place for all required higher-level care (95). As adolescents may be particularly affected by user fees as a barrier to safe abortion services, they should be exempted from charges (18,95). Furthermore, unmarried adolescents may be under pressure to have an abortion, and those who are suspected of being coerced into having an abortion should be referred for counselling and social and legal support (95).



www.ogilviedesign.co.uk

5.5 Key complementary documents in addition to the WHO guidelines

- Clinical practice handbook for safe abortion. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (106)
- Interagency statement: preventing gender-biased sex selection. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011 (107)
- Renner R-M, de Guzman A, Brahmi D. Abortion care for adolescent and young women. Int J Gynecol Obstet. 2014;126(1):1–7 (108)
- Adolescents' need for and use of abortion services in developing countries. New York: Guttmacher Institute; 2016 (94)
- Provision of abortion care for adolescent and young women: a systematic review. Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas; 2013 (109)

5.6 Real-life application of the guidelines

WHO has worked to support countries, including Ghana, Kyrgyzstan, Mongolia, the Republic of Moldova, Romania and Viet Nam, to adapt the WHO guidance on safe abortion care, often using the framework of the WHO Strategic Approach to Strengthening Sexual and Reproductive Health Policies and Programmes (110,111). In the Republic of Moldova, for example, abortion was included among 11 high-priority areas in the 2005–2015 National Strategy for Reproductive Health. WHO, along with other international organizations, collaborated with the nongovernmental organization Reproductive Health Training Centre to develop the National Safe Abortion Standards. These standards, based on the WHO recommendations, were approved by the Moldovan Ministry of Health in 2011 (112). Additionally, the partnership supported a revision of the national training curriculum; development and introduction of the comprehensive abortion care model for outpatient services; upgrading of the health management information system for abortion; and registration of a quality-approved combipack of mifepristone and misoprostol for pregnancy termination (112).

Sexually transmitted infections prevention and care

6.1 Definitions

Sexually transmitted infections are infections caused by bacteria, viruses and parasites transmitted through sexual contact, including vaginal, anal and oral sex. Some STIs may also be spread by skin-to-skin sexual contact or through non-sexual means, such as from mother to child during pregnancy and childbirth. There are more than 30 known bacteria, viruses and parasites that cause STIs (113).

6.2 Rationale

Sexually transmitted infections among adolescents are an important problem. There are no published estimates for prevalence or incidence of STIs in adolescents at the global level, and current data sources on STIs among adolescents in most low- and middle-income countries are weak. However, where age-disaggregated surveillance systems exist, a substantial proportion of incidence occurs in adolescents. Among women in sub-Saharan Africa, estimates suggest that the prevalence of all STIs (except for herpes simplex virus 2) is higher among girls aged 15–24 years than among women aged 25–49 years (114). Similarly, in Europe, young women and men aged 15–24 years accounted for 61% of all cases of chlamydia infection in 2015 (115). In the United States of America, half of all STIs in 2008 were reported in young women and men aged 15–24 years (116).

Adolescent girls may have greater biological susceptibility than adult women to some STIs due to the immaturity of the cervical mucosa and increased cervical ectopy (117,118). Boys, meanwhile, face pressure to have multiple partners from stereotypical masculinity norms that prescribe male dominance and toughness (119). The risk of contracting a STI is often greater for specific groups of adolescents, such as adolescent sex workers and their clients, and boys who have sex with men or boys (120–122).

Sexually transmitted infections among adolescents have major health consequences. Sexually transmitted infections can cause discomfort and pain and can have serious consequences beyond the immediate impact of the infection itself (120). Herpes and ulcerative (syphilis) and inflammatory (chlamydia, gonorrhoea, trichomoniasis) curable STIs are associated with a two- to three-fold increased risk of acquiring HIV (123, 124). All of the curable STIs have been linked with serious pregnancy complications for the newborn, including preterm birth, low birth weight and death (125, 126). For example, syphilis in pregnancy leads to an estimated 215 000 stillbirths and

fetal deaths and 90 000 neonatal deaths each year (127). Furthermore, STIs such as gonorrhoea and chlamydia are major causes of infertility (125). Human papillomavirus was responsible for an estimated 528 000 cases of cervical cancer and 266 000 deaths from cervical cancer in 2012 (128).

Prevention and management services for STIs have been shown to be effective. Behavioural interventions (CSE, brief sexuality-related communication⁶), STI pre- and post-test counselling, safer sex and risk-reduction counselling, condom promotion) and barrier methods of contraception (male and female condoms) have been shown to offer prevention against STIs (*120, 129*). Accurate diagnostic tests for STIs exist, along with treatments that can cure chlamydia, gonorrhoea, syphilis and trichomoniasis, and treatments that can treat herpes and hepatitis B effectively (*120*).

However, design and implementation of prevention strategies and access to and provision of good-quality services need attention. Effective STI prevention and management services are an urgent need for adolescent populations, including scale-up of STI case management and provision of HPV vaccination (120). However, many adolescents do not have access to integrated STI prevention and management services (120). Even when STI prevention and management services are available, adolescents often face barriers related to stigma, shame, cost and lack of confidentiality (130).

States have obligations under human rights law to provide STI prevention and care to adolescents. States are obligated to ensure care and treatment of STIs, as part of sexual and reproductive health services, are accessible to adolescents, regardless of marital status, ensuring such services are free, confidential, adolescent-responsive and non-discriminatory (15,17). Removal of barriers such as third-party consent requirements also forms part of states' obligations in relation to provision of services related to STI testing and treatment, as a component of sexual and reproductive health services (15,17).

6.3 Relevant WHO guidelines

6.3.1 WHO guidelines for the treatment of *Treponema pallidum* (syphilis). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016

This guideline (131), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, consolidates recommendations on treatment of syphilis. Broadly, it focuses on treatment recommendations for early syphilis (primary, secondary, early latent syphilis of not more than two years' duration), late syphilis (infection of more than two years' duration without evidence of treponemal infection) and congenital syphilis.

⁶ Brief sexuality-related communication refers to the opportunistic use of counselling by providers (nurses, doctors, health educators), with less certainty about the duration of the encounter or the possibility of follow-up encounters, to address sexuality and related personal or psychological problems and to promote sexual well-being.

6.3.2 WHO guideline on syphilis screening and treatment for pregnant women. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017

This guideline (132), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides updated recommendations for syphilis screening and treatment for pregnant women based on the most recent evidence and available serological tests for syphilis. It builds on recommendations relating to the treatment of syphilis for pregnant women and treatment of congenital syphilis from the 2016 WHO Guidelines for the Treatment of Treponema pallidum (Syphilis) (131).

6.3.3 WHO guidelines for the treatment of genital herpes simplex virus. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016

This guideline (133), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, consolidates recommendations on treatment of genital herpes simplex virus infection. Broadly, it focuses on treatment recommendations for the first clinical episode of genital herpes simplex virus infection, recurrent clinical episodes of genital herpes simplex virus infection (episodic therapy), frequent recurrent clinical episodes of genital herpes simplex virus infection, and severe or distressing recurrent clinical episodes of genital herpes simplex virus infection (suppressive therapy).

6.3.4 WHO guidelines for the treatment of *Chlamydia trachomatis*. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016

This guideline (134), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, consolidates recommendations on treatment of infection with *Chlamydia trachomatis*. Broadly, it focuses on treatment recommendations for uncomplicated genital chlamydia, anorectal chlamydial infection, genital chlamydial infection in pregnant women, lymphogranuloma venereum and ophthalmia neonatorum.

6.3.5 WHO guidelines for the treatment of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016

This guideline (135), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, consolidates recommendations on treatment of infection with *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Broadly, it focuses on treatment recommendations for genital and anorectal gonococcal infections, oropharyngeal gonococcal infections, retreatment of gonococcal infections after treatment failure and gonococcal ophthalmia neonatorum. The guideline highlights the need for countries to monitor their *N. gonorrhoeae* antimicrobial resistance to inform national *N. gonorrhoeae* treatment recommendations.

6.3.6 Guidelines on hepatitis B and C testing. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016

This guideline (136), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides recommendations on testing for chronic hepatitis B and C virus and complements the WHO guidelines on prevention, care and treatment of chronic hepatitis B and C infection (137,138). Broadly, it discusses who to test for hepatitis B and C virus infection, how to test for hepatitis B and C virus infection, how to test for hepatitis B and C virus infection, how to test for hepatitis B and C virus infection, how to confirm viraemic infection and monitor for treatment response, and how to use dried blood spot and other strategies to promote update of testing and linkage to care.

6.3.7 Guidelines for the prevention, care and treatment of persons with chronic hepatitis B infection. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015

This guideline (137), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides recommendations on prevention, care and treatment of people with chronic hepatitis B virus infection. Broadly, it recommends using simple, non-invasive diagnostic tests to assess the stage of liver disease and eligibility for treatment; prioritizing treatment for people with most advanced liver disease and at greatest risk of mortality; and using nucleos(t)ide analogues with a high barrier to resistance (tenofovir or entecavir in adults and adolescents older than 11 years; entecavir in children aged 2–11 years) for first- and second-line treatment.

6.3.8 Guidelines for the screening, care and treatment of persons with chronic hepatitis C infection: updated version, April 2016. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016

This guideline (138), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides recommendations for the screening, care and treatment of people with chronic hepatitis C virus infection. Broadly, it provides guidance on screening for hepatitis C virus infections; care of people living with hepatitis C virus; treatment of people living with hepatitis C virus infection using, where possible, all direct-acting antiviral-only combinations; the preferred regimens based on a person's hepatitis C virus genotype and clinical history; and assessment of the appropriateness of continued use of certain medicines.

6.3.9 Consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for key populations: 2016 update. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016

This guideline (20), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, consolidates recommendations for HIV prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for five key populations: men who have sex with men, people who inject drugs, people in prisons and other closed settings, sex workers, and transgender people. Broadly, it introduces a comprehensive package of interventions and describes health-sector interventions, critical enablers, service delivery, and the decision-making, planning and monitoring process.

6.3.10 Prevention and treatment of HIV and other sexually transmitted infections among men who have sex with men and transgender people: recommendations for a public health approach. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011

This guideline (121), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides recommendations for the prevention and treatment of HIV and other STIs among men who have sex with men and transgender people. Broadly, it covers prevention of sexual transmission; HIV testing and counselling; behavioural interventions and information, education and communication; substance use and prevention of bloodborne infections; HIV care and treatment; and prevention and care of other STIs.

6.3.11 Prevention and treatment of HIV and other sexually transmitted infections for sex workers in low- and middle-income countries: recommendations for a public health approach. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012

This guideline (122), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides recommendations for the prevention and treatment of HIV and other STIs among sex workers and their clients. Broadly, it covers community empowerment, condom promotion, screening for asymptomatic STIs, periodic presumptive treatment for STIs, needle–syringe programmes, vaccination for hepatitis B virus, voluntary counselling and testing for HIV, and antiretroviral therapy.

6.3.12 Consolidated guideline on sexual and reproductive health and rights of women living with HIV. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017

This guideline (43), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, consolidates recommendations on the sexual and reproductive health and rights specific to women living with HIV. Broadly, this guideline describes strategies for creating an enabling environment and providing health interventions for the sexual and reproductive health and rights of women living with HIV. It also discusses implementation issues that health and service delivery interventions must address in order to achieve gender equality and support human rights. With regard to STIs, this guideline issues the following adolescent-specific recommendation:

Health facility:

Provide the HPV vaccine for girls aged 9–13 years. Girls receiving a first dose of the vaccine before age 15 years can use a two-dose schedule. The interval between the two doses should be six months. There is no maximum interval between the doses, but an interval of no more than 12–15 months is suggested. If the interval between the doses is less than five months, then a third dose should be given at least six months after the first dose. Immunocompromised individuals, including people living with HIV, and females aged 15 years and older should also receive the vaccine; they need three doses (at 0, 1–2 and 6 months) to be protected fully.

6.3.13 Comprehensive cervical cancer control: a guide to essential practice, 2nd edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014

This guideline (139), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, consolidates recommendations for complementary strategies for comprehensive cervical cancer prevention and control, and highlights the need for collaboration across programmes, organizations and partners. Broadly, it focuses on essential elements for cervical cancer prevention and control programmes, including community mobilization, education and counselling; HPV vaccination; screening and treatment of cervical pre-cancer; diagnosis and treatment of invasive cervical cancer; and palliative care. This guideline issues the following adolescent-specific recommendations:

Health facility:

 Consider introducing HPV vaccination when (i) cervical cancer or other human papillomavirus HPV-related diseases constitute a public health priority; (ii) vaccine introduction is programmatically feasible; (iii) sustainable financing can be secured; and (iv) the cost– effectiveness of vaccination strategies in the country or region has been considered.

- Introduce the HPV vaccination as part of a coordinated comprehensive strategy to prevent cervical cancer and other HPV-related diseases. The introduction of HPV vaccination should not undermine or divert funding from the development or maintenance of effective screening programmes for cervical cancer.
- Provide the HPV vaccine for girls aged 9–13 years. Girls receiving a first dose of the vaccine before age 15 years can use a two-dose schedule. The interval between the two doses should be six months. There is no maximum interval between the two doses, but an interval of no more than 12–15 months is suggested. If the interval between doses is less than five months, then a third dose should be given at least six months after the first dose. Immunocompromised individuals, including people living with HIV, and females aged 15 years and older should also receive the vaccine; they need three doses (at 0, 1–2 and 6 months) to be protected fully.
- Screen for cervical pre-cancer and cancer in women and girls who have initiated sexual activity
 as soon as the woman or girl has tested positive for HIV, regardless of age.

6.3.14 Responding to children and adolescents who have been sexually abused: WHO clinical guidelines. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017

This guideline (42), which is specific to adolescents and children (aged 0–18 years), provides recommendations for provision of high-quality trauma-informed care to survivors of sexual abuse. Broadly, it covers recommendations for post-rape care and mental health and good practices to provide first-line psychological support in response to disclosure, minimize distress in the process of taking medical history, conduct examination and document findings. Additionally, this guideline emphasizes the importance of promoting safety, offering choices, and respecting the wishes and autonomy of children and adolescents. Importantly, these guidelines highlight ethical considerations when health-care providers are mandated to report child and adolescent sexual abuse to designated authorities. With regard to STIs, this guideline issues the following adolescent-specific recommendations:

Health facility:

- Offer presumptive or prophylactic treatment for gonorrhoea, chlamydia and syphilis for children and adolescents who have been sexually abused involving oral, genital or anal contact with a penis or oral sex, particularly in settings where laboratory testing is not feasible.
- Offer syndromic case management for children and adolescents who have been sexually abused and who present with clinical symptoms (vaginal/urethral discharge – gonorrhoea, chlamydia, trichomoniasis; genital ulcers – herpes simplex virus, syphilis, chancroid), particularly in settings where laboratory testing is not feasible.
- Offer hepatitis B vaccination without hepatitis B immunoglobulin, as per national guidance.
- Offer the HPV vaccine to girls aged 9–14 years, as per national guidance.

6.3.15 Brief sexuality-related communication: recommendations for a public health approach. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015

This guideline (140), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, consolidates recommendations for health policy-makers and decision-makers in health professional training institutions on the rationale for health-care providers' use of counselling skills to address sexual

health concerns in a primary health care setting. Broadly, it focuses on brief sexuality-related communication to prevent STIs, and preparing health-care providers to deliver it effectively.

6.4 Key concepts to consider

Adolescents lack knowledge and understanding about STIs and STI prevention and management services (130). Adolescents, especially those who would benefit most from vaccination and STI screening, should be informed about STIs when they interact with the health system and through educational outreach (20). Additionally, HPV vaccination strategies offer valuable opportunities for integration with schools and other community-based organizations and institutions (139).

Sexually transmitted infection prevention and management services often do not reach adolescents; if they do, often they are not adolescent-friendly (130). Sexually transmitted infection prevention strategies, including providing information (see Section 2), addressing social drivers of STIs and HIV (see Section 7), promoting condom use, and providing the HPV vaccine, need to be tailored to reach and meet the needs of adolescents (120). Further efforts are needed to ensure that when adolescents know or expect that they have an STI, they seek care (120). Sexually transmitted infection management services must be adolescent-friendly: health-care providers should be trained and supported to inform, counsel and care for adolescents according to their evolving capacities to understand the treatment and care options being offered, and STI prevention and management services should be provided for adolescents without mandatory parental and guardian authorization or notification (120). Additionally, girls should not be asked about sexual activity before administration of the HPV vaccine (139).



6.5 Key complementary documents in addition to the WHO guidelines

- Global health sector strategy on sexually transmitted infections 2016–2021. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (120)
- World Health Organization. Human papillomavirus vaccines: WHO position paper, May 2017 – recommendations. Vaccine. 2017;35(43):5753–5755 (141)
- Guide to introducing HPV vaccine into national immunization programmes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (142)
- Scaling-up HPV vaccine introduction. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (143)
- Sexually transmitted diseases: treatment guidelines, 2015. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2015 (144)
- HPV vaccine lessons learnt project overview. Seattle, WA: PATH; 2015 (145)

6.6 Real-life application of the guidelines

Since the release of the STI treatment guidelines for gonorrhoea, chlamydial infection, syphilis and genital herpes in 2016, all WHO regional offices have organized workshops to disseminate the guidelines to country focal points. These workshops brought together 22 countries from the Western Pacific Region, the South-East Asia Region and the Eastern Mediterranean Region in a joint event; 12 countries from the Region of the Americas; and 28 countries from the Africa Region. Sexually transmitted infection guidelines have also been disseminated by linking these guidelines to dissemination workshops of guidelines on HIV and maternal, child and newborn health.

In Cambodia and Myanmar for example, STI technical committees were established to revise national guidelines based on the WHO STI guidelines. In Brazil and Cambodia, national funding has been allocated for implementing gonorrhoea antimicrobial resistance surveillance to inform revision of national gonorrhoea treatment recommendations. Lastly, Kenya and Zimbabwe have revised their STI treatment recommendations according to WHO guidelines and as informed by results of gonorrhoea antimicrobial resistance surveillance.

HIV prevention and care



7.1 Definitions

Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) is a virus that targets the immune system and weakens the body's defence systems against infections and some types of cancer (146). HIV is transmitted via the exchange of body fluids containing the virus, such as blood, breast milk, semen and vaginal secretions (147). The most advanced stage of HIV infection is acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) (146). There is currently no cure or vaccine for HIV or AIDS (146).

Antiretroviral medicines are medicines used to treat HIV (147). Antiretroviral medicines can be used for post-exposure prophylaxis (short-term treatment started as soon as possible, and within 72 hours, after high-risk exposure to HIV to reduce the risk of acquiring the virus), and as pre-exposure prophylaxis (HIV prevention for people who have tested negative for HIV but are at high risk of infection) (146).

Antiretroviral therapy refers to the use of a combination of three or more antiretroviral medicines to treat HIV infection (147). Antiretroviral therapy involves lifelong treatment (147). Synonyms are "combination antiretroviral therapy" and "highly active antiretroviral therapy" (147).

7.2 Rationale

HIV among adolescents is an important problem, particularly in sub-Saharan Africa. In 2017 there were approximately 1.8 million adolescents living with HIV worldwide, accounting for 5% of all people living with HIV (*148*). Additionally, adolescents account for 16% of new adult HIV infections (*148*). Some adolescents are at much higher risk of HIV than others (*149*). For example, in eastern and southern Africa, girls accounted for two in every three new HIV infections among young people in 2017, a phenomenon underpinned by gender inequalities and harmful masculinities, violence, poor access to education and employment opportunities, and low levels of economic independence (*150*).

HIV among adolescents has major health consequences. Undiagnosed and untreated HIV among adolescents results in substantial mortality (*151,152*). AIDS-related deaths among young adolescents aged 10–14 years have declined since 2010 to approximately 20 000 deaths globally during 2015, due largely to the impact of prevention of mother-to-child transmission (*152*). However, AIDS-related deaths among adolescents aged 15–19 years have continued to rise, with an estimated 20 800 deaths during 2015, due in part to the unique characteristics,

especially increasing autonomy, of older adolescents and the effects of these characteristics on adherence to treatment and retention in care (152). Compared with children and adults living with HIV, adolescents living with HIV have higher rates of mortality (151). In fact, adolescents comprise the only age group for which AIDS-related mortality did not decline between 2000 and 2015 worldwide; instead, AIDS-related mortality among adolescents more than doubled during this time period (153).

HIV prevention and management services have been shown to be effective. The following package of interventions has been shown to be effective in HIV prevention in adolescents and young adults: provision of CSE, promotion and distribution of condoms, HIV testing and counselling services, voluntary medical male circumcision for risk reduction, harm reduction for people who inject drugs, and targeted prevention programmes for young sex workers and other key populations (154). For adolescents at high risk of HIV acquisition, the package should be extended with the offer of pre-exposure prophylaxis (154). Research evidence and programmatic experience point to the importance of combining the provision of information, counselling, commodities and health services with structural actions such as legal and policy support to access sexual and reproductive health services and community mobilization to address social and gender norms (154). With regard to treatment and care, viral suppression through early initiation of antiretroviral therapy for people living with HIV has been shown to result in reduced rates of sexual transmission of HIV and clinical events (155). Additionally, HIV self-testing and community-based testing and treatment have the potential to increase HIV diagnosis, initiation of antiretroviral therapy, and achievement of viral suppression (156). Lastly, mental health interventions should be included in the package of HIV care services for all people living with HIV, especially adolescents. Integration or linkage to mental health services should be implemented in settings where health-care infrastructure and trained human resources are available (147).

However, prevention strategies and their implementation, and access to and provision of highquality services, need attention. Only 64 of 107 UNAIDS reporting countries in 2016 had a strategy or plan related to adolescents and HIV (151). Most adolescents lack basic knowledge on prevention of HIV: only 34% of young men and 28% of young women in sub-Saharan Africa between 2012 and 2017 had comprehensive knowledge on how to prevent HIV (150). Further, adolescent girls especially may be unable to negotiate the use of condoms due to low levels of economic independence, interpersonal violence, and power differentials related to age and gender (150). From 2011 to 2016, condom use at last high-risk sex in the previous 12 months was less than 50% for young women aged 15-24 years in 31 countries and for young men aged 15-24 years in 18 countries (154). Therefore, female-controlled options such as pre-exposure prophylaxis provide an additional prevention choice for young women at risk. Adolescents are less likely than adults to be tested for HIV, and in almost 60% of the 107 reporting countries parental consent was required for adolescents to access HIV treatment (151). Innovations such as HIV self-testing, where a test is conducted by an adolescent on their own in private, is another option for expansion of services. However, it is important to provide information for counselling and referral within self-test kits to enable adolescents to have their questions answered and to cope with test results. Adolescents living with HIV are underserved by HIV services and have poorer retention in care and lower rates of viral suppression compared with children and adults living with HIV (152,157,158).

States have obligations under human rights law to provide HIV prevention and care to adolescents. States are obligated to ensure adolescents have access to confidential HIV testing and counselling services and to evidence-based HIV prevention and treatment programmes provided by trained personnel who fully respect the rights of adolescents to privacy and non-discrimination (15,17). Furthermore, states must ensure that the right to health of children, including adolescents, is not undermined as a result of discrimination, including that based on HIV status (16). Removal of barriers such as third-party consent requirements also forms part of states' obligations in relation to HIV prevention, testing and treatment, as a component of sexual and reproductive health services (15,17).

7.3 Relevant WHO guidelines

7.3.1 HIV and adolescents: guidance for HIV testing and counselling and care for adolescents living with HIV – recommendations for a public health approach and considerations for policy-makers and managers. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013

This guidance document (159), which is specific to adolescents, provides recommendations on prioritizing, planning and providing HIV testing, counselling, treatment and care services for adolescents. Broadly, it describes recommendations for HIV service provision for adolescents and presents operational considerations, including guiding principles for implementation and programmatic experience and lessons learnt, for policy-makers and managers. The guidance document issues the following adolescent-specific recommendations:

Community:

 Consider community-based approaches to improve treatment adherence and retention in care of adolescents living with HIV.

Health facility – HIV testing and counselling:

- Generalized, low and concentrated epidemics: provide HIV testing and counselling services, with linkages to prevention, treatment and care, for adolescents from key populations in all settings.
- Generalized epidemics: provide HIV testing and counselling services, with linkages to prevention, treatment and care, for all adolescents.
- Low and concentrated epidemics: ensure HIV testing and counselling services, with linkages to prevention, treatment and care, are accessible for all adolescents.

Health facility – disclosure:

 Counsel adolescents about the potential benefits and risks of disclosure of their HIV status to others, and empower and support them to determine whether, when, how and to whom to disclose.

Health facility – adherence to treatment and retention in care:

• Train health-care workers to contribute to treatment adherence and improvement in retention in care of adolescents living with HIV.

7.3.2 Guidelines on HIV self-testing and partner notification. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016

This guideline (160), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, is an update to the WHO Consolidated Guidelines on HIV Testing Services (161) and issues new recommendations and additional guidance on HIV self-testing and assisted HIV partner notification services. Broadly, it provides recommendations for HIV self-testing⁷ and partner notification.⁸

7.3.3 WHO consolidated guidelines on HIV testing services. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015

This guideline (161), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, consolidates recommendations on HIV testing services. Broadly, it addresses issues and elements for effective delivery of HIV testing services that are common in a variety of settings, contexts and diverse populations. This guideline issues the following adolescent-specific recommendations:

Health facility:

- Generalized, low, and concentrated epidemics: provide HIV testing services, with linkages to prevention, treatment and care, for adolescents from key populations in all settings.
- Generalized epidemics: provide HIV testing and counselling services, with linkages to prevention, treatment and care, for all adolescents.
- Low and concentrated epidemics: ensure HIV testing and counselling services, with linkages to prevention, treatment and care, are accessible to all adolescents.
- Counsel adolescents with HIV about the potential benefits and risks of disclosure of their HIV status, and empower and support them to determine whether, when, how and to whom to disclose.

7.3.4 Updated recommendations on first-line and second-line antiretroviral regimens and post-exposure prophylaxis and recommendations on early infant diagnosis of HIV: interim guidance. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018

This guideline (162), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides updated recommendations on antiretroviral regimens for treating and preventing HIV infection and on early infant diagnosis of HIV. Broadly, it provides recommendations on the preferred first-line regimens for adults, adolescents and children initiating antiretroviral therapy, which now include dolutegravir

⁷ HIV self-testing refers to a process in which a person collects their own specimen (oral fluid or blood), performs an HIV test, and interprets the result, often in a private setting, either alone or with someone they trust. As with all approaches to HIV testing, self-testing should always be voluntary, not coercive and not mandatory.

⁸ Partner notification, disclosure or contact tracing is defined as a voluntary process whereby a trained provider asks people living with HIV about their sexual partners and drug injecting partners and then, if the person living with HIV agrees, offers these partners HIV testing services. Partner notification is provided using passive or assisted approaches.

and raltegravir. It also recommends that HIV virological testing be used to diagnose HIV infection among infants and children younger than 18 months and that antiretroviral therapy be started without delay while a second specimen is collected to confirm the initial positive virological test result. The guideline emphasizes a woman centered approach with strong linkages between HIV and SRH programs as critical enablers for the provision of quality services to adolescents.

7.3.5 Guideline on when to start antiretroviral therapy and on pre-exposure prophylaxis for HIV. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015

This guideline (163), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides guidance on when to start antiretroviral therapy and on pre-exposure prophylaxis for HIV. Broadly, it states that antiretroviral therapy should be initiated in all people living with HIV, regardless of CD4 cell count, and that the use of daily oral pre-exposure prophylaxis is recommended as a prevention choice for people at substantial risk of HIV infection as part of combination prevention approaches. This guideline issues the following adolescent-specific recommendations:

Health facility:

Antiretroviral therapy should be initiated in all adolescents living with HIV, regardless of CD4 cell count.

7.3.6 Guidelines on post-exposure prophylaxis for HIV and the use of cotrimoxazole prophylaxis for HIV-related infections among adults, adolescents and children. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014

This guideline (164), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides new recommendations and updates to previous recommendations outlined in the 2013 WHO *Consolidated Guidelines on the Use of Antiretroviral Drugs for Treating and Preventing HIV Infection (147)*. Broadly, it reflects important advances in the use of antiretroviral medicines to prevent HIV with more simplified approaches to post-exposure prophylaxis and simplifies the indications on the use of co-trimoxazole to prevent opportunistic infections, bacterial infections and malaria. This guideline issues the following adolescent-specific recommendations:

Health facility:

- Co-trimoxazole prophylaxis is recommended for infants, children and adolescents with HIV, irrespective of clinical and immune conditions. Priority should be given to all children under 5 years of age, regardless of CD4 cell count or clinical stage, those with severe or advanced HIV clinical disease (WHO clinical stage 3 or 4), and those with a CD4 count of less than or equal to 350 cells/mm³.
- In settings with a high prevalence of malaria or severe bacterial infections, co-trimoxazole prophylaxis should be continued until adulthood.
- In settings with low prevalence for both malaria and bacterial infections, co-trimoxazole prophylaxis may be discontinued for children aged 5 years and older who are clinically stable or virally suppressed on antiretroviral therapy for at least 6 months and with a CD4 count over 350 cells/mm³.

7.3.7 Consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretroviral drugs for treating and preventing HIV infection: recommendations for a public health approach. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016

This guideline (147), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, consolidates recommendations on the diagnosis of HIV infection, the care of people living with HIV, and the use of antiretroviral medicines for treating and preventing HIV infection. Broadly, it structures recommendations along the continuum of HIV testing, care and treatment. Updated guidance on first-line and second-line antiretroviral regimens and post-exposure prophylaxis and recommendations on early infant diagnosis of HIV was issued in 2018 (see Section 7.3.4). This guideline issues the following adolescent-specific recommendations:

Community:

 Consider community-based approaches to improve treatment adherence and retention in care of adolescents living with HIV.

Health facility – HIV diagnosis:

- Generalized, low and concentrated epidemics: provide HIV testing and counselling, with linkages to prevention, treatment and care, for adolescents from key populations.
- Generalized epidemics: provide HIV testing and counselling, with linkages to prevention, treatment and care, for all adolescents.
- Low-level and concentrated epidemics: ensure HIV testing and counselling, with linkages to prevention, treatment and care, are accessible to all adolescents.

Health facility – antiretroviral therapy:

- Initiate antiretroviral therapy in all adolescents living with HIV, regardless of WHO clinical stage and CD4 cell count.
- Ensure first-line antiretroviral therapy for adolescents consists of two nucleoside reversetranscriptase inhibitors plus a non-nucleoside reverse-transcriptase inhibitor or an integrase strand transfer inhibitor.
- For older children and adolescents who have more therapeutic options available to them, consider constructing third-line antiretroviral regimens with novel medicines used to treat adults, such as etravirine, darunavir and raltegravir.

Health facility – prevention, screening and management of co-infections:

- Tuberculosis (TB) provide co-trimoxazole prophylaxis for infants, children and adolescents living with HIV and active TB disease, irrespective of clinical and immune conditions.
- Cryptococcal disease the use of routine CrAg screening in antiretroviral therapy-naive adolescents and children with pre-emptive antifungal therapy if positive for CrAG before initiation of antiretroviral therapy is not recommended.

Adolescent-friendly health services:

• Train health-care workers to contribute to treatment adherence and improvement in retention in care of adolescents living with HIV.

 Counsel adolescents about the potential benefits and risks of disclosure of their HIV status, and empower and support them to determine whether, when, how and to whom to disclose (conditional recommendation).

7.3.8 Guidelines for managing advanced HIV disease and rapid initiation of antiretroviral therapy. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017

This guideline (165), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides recommendations on a public health approach to care for people presenting with advanced HIV disease, and on the timing of initiation of antiretroviral therapy for all people living with HIV. Broadly, it defines a package of screening, prophylaxis, rapid antiretroviral therapy initiation, and intensified adherence interventions aimed at reducing HIV-associated morbidity and mortality. It also recommends that rapid antiretroviral therapy initiation (within seven days of HIV diagnosis) be offered to people living with HIV following confirmed diagnosis and clinical assessment, and that antiretroviral therapy be initiated on the same day as HIV diagnosis based on the person's willingness and readiness to start antiretroviral therapy immediately, unless there are clinical reasons to delay treatment.

7.3.9 Consolidated guidelines on person-centred HIV patient monitoring and case surveillance. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017

This guideline (166), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides consolidated guidance on monitoring systems for people with HIV as part of public health surveillance. Broadly, it recommends the use of unique identifiers to link people with HIV across health services and the use of routine data for care and reporting on programme, national and global indicators, including key global targets for HIV.

7.3.10 Integrating collaborative TB and HIV services within a comprehensive package of care for people who inject drugs: consolidated guidelines. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016

This guideline (167), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides consolidated guidance on integrating collaborative TB and HIV services within a comprehensive package of care for people who inject drugs. It provides an update of the WHO 2008 policy guidelines for collaborative TB and HIV services for people who use drugs. Broadly, it consolidates the latest recommendations relating to the management of TB, HIV-associated TB, HIV, viral hepatitis B and hepatitis C, and drug dependence, as well as alcohol dependence, malnutrition, mental illness and psychosocial needs.

7.3.11 Guidelines on the public health response to pretreatment HIV drug resistance. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017

This guideline (168), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides guidance on the public health response to pretreatment resistance to non-nucleoside reverse-transcriptase inhibitors in people without prior antiretroviral medicine exposure or in people with prior antiretroviral medicine exposure who are initiating or reinitiating first-line antiretroviral therapy. It is a supplement to the 2016 *Consolidated Guidelines on the Use of Antiretroviral Drugs for Treating and Preventing HIV Infection (147)*.

7.3.12 Consolidated guideline on sexual and reproductive health and rights of women living with HIV. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017

This guideline (43), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, consolidates recommendations on the sexual and reproductive health and rights specific to women living with HIV. Broadly, this guideline describes strategies for creating an enabling environment and providing health interventions for the sexual and reproductive health and rights of women living with HIV. It also discusses implementation issues that health and service delivery interventions must address in order to achieve gender equality and support human rights. This guideline issues the following adolescent-specific recommendations:

Health facility – HIV prevention and care services:

- Counsel adolescents about the potential benefits and risks of disclosure of their HIV status to others, and empower and support them to determine whether, when, how and to whom to disclose.
- Initiate antiretroviral therapy in all adolescents living with HIV, regardless of WHO clinical stage and CD4 cell count (conditional recommendation).

Health facility – adolescent-friendly health services:

• Ensure adolescent-friendly health services are implemented in HIV services to ensure engagement and improved outcomes.

7.3.13 Consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for key populations: 2016 update. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016

This guideline (20), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, consolidates recommendations for HIV prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for five key populations: men who have sex with men, people who inject drugs, people in prisons and other closed settings, sex workers, and transgender people. Broadly, it introduces a comprehensive package of interventions and describes health-sector interventions, critical enablers, service delivery, and the decision-making, planning and monitoring process.

7.3.14 Responding to children and adolescents who have been sexually abused: WHO clinical guidelines. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017

This guideline (42), which is specific to adolescents and children (aged 0–18 years), provides recommendations for the provision of high-quality trauma-informed care to survivors of sexual abuse. Broadly, it covers recommendations for post-rape care and good practices for taking medical histories, conducting examinations, providing psychological support, and documenting findings. Importantly, these guidelines also highlight ethical considerations when health-care providers are mandated to report child and adolescent sexual abuse to designated authorities. Additionally, this guideline emphasizes the importance of promoting safety, offering choices and respecting the wishes and autonomy of children and adolescents (regarding the engagement of caregivers). With regard to HIV, this guideline issues the following adolescent-specific recommendations:

Health facility:

- Offer HIV post-exposure prophylaxis, as appropriate, to children and adolescents who have been raped involving oral, vaginal or anal penetration with a penis, and who present within 72 hours of the incident.
- Provide a 28-day prescription of antiretroviral medicines for HIV post-exposure prophylaxis, following initial risk assessment.
- · Ideally offer a triple-therapy antiretroviral regimen, but a two-medicine regimen is also effective.
- Incorporate adherence counselling as an important element in the provision of HIV postexposure prophylaxis to survivors of sexual assault or rape.

7.3.15 Guidance statement: hormonal contraceptive eligibility for women at high risk of HIV. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017

This guidance statement (44), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides recommendations for use of hormonal contraceptive methods by women at high risk of HIV.

7.4 Key concepts to consider

Many adolescents do not know how to prevent HIV or where to access HIV prevention services (150). Adolescents at risk of HIV should be provided with the full range of effective HIV prevention methods and interventions. This includes sexual and reproductive health information and education (see Section 2), male and female condoms, behaviour change interventions to reduce the number of sexual partners, use of clean needles and syringes, and opiate substitution therapy (e.g. methadone) (20). It also includes services such as voluntary medical male circumcision in settings with a high HIV burden, antiretroviral medicines for pre-exposure prophylaxis, and treatment of people living with HIV to reduce viral load and prevent onward transmission (20). Complementary efforts including social and gender norm change and economic empowerment must also be made to address the structural drivers of HIV (150).

Many adolescents, especially those in key populations, do not know their HIV status (151). Adolescents need comprehensive information and education on HIV and the HIV testing services available to them *(43).* HIV testing services, including self-testing, should be made accessible to all adolescents, with linkages to counselling and treatment services and without mandatory age of consent or parental or guardian authorization or notification policies *(43,159).* Community-based distribution of HIV self-test kits has seen high uptake among adolescents *(160).* Policies, in particular those regarding age of consent, on access to HIV testing may need to be adapted or developed to enable adolescents to self-test for HIV *(160).*

Adolescents find it difficult to reach and obtain HIV prevention and care services (152,157,158). Services should be provided at times that accommodate school hours, in locations that protect adolescents from stigma and disclosure-related concerns, and without prohibitive user fees (43,159). Linkage to care may be enhanced by peer-based interventions, community-based services and support groups (20). Additionally, access can be affected by policy requirements, such as age of consent for sexual intercourse, HIV testing or antiretroviral therapy provision (20,159). Policy-makers should ensure age of consent policies protect adolescents' right to make choices about their own health and well-being, with consideration for adolescents' different levels

of maturity and development. Service providers should be aware of laws and policies governing age of consent to ensure adolescents have access to the services they require (43,159).

HIV prevention and care services are often not adolescent-friendly. Adolescents may face specific barriers at each stage of HIV diagnosis, treatment and care, and they may need support to navigate HIV care services (*159*). Health-care providers and support staff need training and support to provide adolescent-friendly and age-appropriate information and services (*159*). Additionally, effective planning and support are needed for adolescents to navigate the health system (*159*).

With regard to diagnosis and post-testing counselling, receiving information about potential HIV exposure may be more emotionally challenging for adolescents than for adults (159).

Programmes should make extra efforts to support adolescents to understand their diagnosis; interpret information on their rights (especially related to confidentiality); link them to essential HIV treatment, care and prevention interventions; and build skills to make informed secondary prevention decisions (159). Adolescents should also be given the opportunity to ask questions and discuss issues related to sexuality (159). Programmes should include rapid proactive follow-up and strategies for re-engagement, especially communication technologies, such as mobile phones and text messaging (20).

With regard to treatment, frequent clinic visits, time spent waiting for services and having to miss school discourages adolescents' engagement in care (159). For adolescents who are transitioning from paediatric to adolescent care, or from adolescent to adult care, difficulties in navigating the health-care system, lack of linkages between adult and paediatric services, and health workers who are inadequately skilled in managing transitions pose additional barriers. Effective planning and support for adolescents are needed to ensure these transitions occur as smoothly as possible (159). Where viral load monitoring is widely available, consider more frequent viral load monitoring for adolescents who are at the highest risk for antiretroviral resistance compared with other age groups (159). Additionally, adolescents should be counselled and supported in accessing contraceptive and prevention of mother-to-child transmission services, given that adolescent girls with HIV are more likely than adult women with HIV to have unintended pregnancies, detectable viral loads during pregnancy, and infants living with HIV (20).

With regard to disclosure, the potential loss of social or economic support or loss of a partner may be especially difficult for adolescents, particularly if the partner is older or has more power in the relationship (159). Partner notification for adolescents, whether they are the person living with HIV or the partner being informed of exposure to HIV, requires sensitive and non-judgemental health-care provider engagement, including recognition and minimization of risks of IPV (159). Adolescents should receive individualized planning on how, when and to whom to disclose HIV status (159). Providers should consider appropriate means of contact with adolescents to enable the provision of support services, should they be required (160). Using communication technologies such as mobile phones and text messaging may help with disclosure, adherence and retention, particularly for adolescents and young people (20).



7.5 Key complementary documents in addition to the WHO guidelines

- Adolescent HIV testing, counselling and care: implementation guidance for health providers and planners. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (169)
- HIV prevention among adolescent girls and young women: putting HIV prevention among adolescent girls and young women on the Fast-Track and engaging men and boys. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2016 (154)
- Key considerations for differentiated antiretroviral therapy delivery for specific populations: children, adolescents, pregnant and breastfeeding women and key populations. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (170)
- The importance of sexual and reproductive health and rights to prevent HIV in adolescent girls and young women in eastern and southern Africa. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (171)
- Clinical manual for male circumcision under local anaesthesia and HIV prevention services for adolescent boys and men. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (172)
- WHO implementation tool for pre-exposure prophylaxis of HIV infection. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (173)

7.6 Real-life application of the guidelines

As adolescents are at increased risk of non-adherence and loss to follow-up while receiving antiretroviral therapy, WHO guidelines recommend that programmes provide community support for adolescents living with HIV to improve retention in HIV care. Using these recommendations, the South African organization Kheth'Impilo implemented an innovative community-based adherence support programme for adolescents living with HIV that used patient advocates (174). Patient advocates are trained community-based health workers who live and work in the same geographical area as their clients. They are primarily responsible for linking antiretroviral therapy sites to the community by providing community-based antiretroviral therapy adherence counselling and support to people living with HIV and TB and their families. In this programme, patient advocates provided regular adherence and psychosocial support for people on antiretroviral therapy and conducted home visits to address factors affecting adherence. People included in the programme were reported to show improved retention and viral suppression.

The Zimbabwean organization Africaid applied WHO guidelines to develop its innovative Zvandiri model, which provides community-based treatment, care, support and prevention services for children and adolescents living with HIV, and has been scaled up nationwide (175). The model uses trained and mentored community adolescent treatment supporters to deliver structured support groups and tailored community-based adherence support, along with counselling for broader psychosocial issues (176). These services are integrated within the clinical care provided by government and private clinics. The Zvandiri model was recognized as a best-practice intervention by WHO, the United States Agency for International Development, and the Southern African Development Community.

Violence against women and girls: prevention, support and care

8.1 Definitions

Gender-based violence refers to violence directed against a woman because she is a woman or violence that affects women disproportionately. It includes acts that inflict physical, mental or sexual harm or suffering, threats of such acts, coercion, and other deprivations of liberty (177).

Violence against women refers to any act of gender-based violence that results in, or is likely to result in, physical, sexual or psychological harm or suffering to women, including threats of such acts, coercion, or arbitrary deprivation of liberty, whether occurring in public or private life (178).

Intimate partner violence refers to behaviour by a current or former intimate partner that causes physical, sexual or psychological harm, including physical aggression, sexual coercion, psychological abuse and controlling behaviours (*179*).

Sexual violence refers to any sexual act, attempt to obtain a sexual act, or other act directed against a person's sexuality using coercion, by any person, regardless of their relationship to the victim, in any setting. It includes rape, defined as the physically forced or otherwise coerced penetration of the vulva or anus with a penis, other body part or object (179).

8.2 Rationale

Gender-based violence against adolescents is an important problem. Among ever-partnered girls aged 15–19 years, the lifetime prevalence of IPV is 29% (*180*). The prevalence of child sexual abuse worldwide is estimated to be approximately 18% for girls and 8% for boys (*181*). Gender-based violence is rooted in gender inequality. For example, attitudes justifying violence against women and girls are often widely held by women and men, and sexual harassment is widespread, including in institutions assumed to be safe, such as schools (*182,183*).

Gender-based violence among adolescents has major health and social consequences. Intimate partner violence can increase girls' risk of unintended pregnancies and induced abortions (often in unsafe conditions) (180). In some settings, IPV also increases girls' and women's risk of acquisition of HIV and STIs (180). With regard to adverse mental health outcomes, child and adolescent sexual abuse and IPV are linked to increased risk of depression, post-traumatic stress disorder, and suicidal ideation and attempt (180,184). Child and adolescent sexual abuse is a risk factor for a range of behavioural risks during adolescence and in adulthood, including unsafe sex, alcohol misuse and substance use (185).

Gender-based violence prevention, support and care have been shown to be effective. There is evidence that parenting-support programmes to prevent child maltreatment may help prevent IPV later in life (186). Other promising intervention strategies include school-based dating violence interventions and community-based interventions to form gender-equitable attitudes among boys and girls (186). Programmes that have been shown to be more effective are also those that incorporate multisectoral and multilevel action and intersectoral coordination, that use longerterm investments and repeated exposure to ideas in different settings over time, that place gender and power analyses at the core of content, and that respond to survivors in an empathetic and timely manner (187,188).

However, laws and policies, prevention strategies and their implementation, and access to high-quality support and care services need to be strengthened. Prevention efforts are typically piecemeal and in the context of small-scale projects (187). Women and girls who experience violence face major barriers in disclosing it, including those related to stigma, blame and shame, and very few survivors (10–40%) seek any type of medical or legal help from a formal institution (184, 189). Although health-care providers are likely to be the first professional contacts for women and girls who experience IPV or sexual violence, there is limited availability of personnel in the health workforce who have been trained and are being supported to identify and respond to it (47, 187). Coverage and quality of services, especially mental health services, needed by survivors are limited, often fragmented and concentrated in cities (187). Furthermore, while most countries have laws in place to hold perpetrators of violence to account, their enforcement is often weak (187). National plans and policies for addressing violence are not adequately resourced, and intersectoral coordination for addressing different forms of violence is lacking, as is coordination within the health system across different programmes and services (187).

States have obligations under human rights law to prevent and address violence against women and girls and provide them with support and care. States are obligated to immediately pursue all appropriate means for the elimination of gender-based violence, which includes addressing violations committed by both state and non-state actors (16,102). State action in this regard should include preventing and responding to gender-based violence in all spheres of life, including within the family, in communities, in schools, and in online and other digital environments (17,102).

8.3 Relevant WHO guidelines

8.3.1 Responding to children and adolescents who have been sexually abused: WHO clinical guidelines. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017

This guideline (42), which is specific to adolescents and children (aged 0–18 years), provides recommendations for the provision of high-quality trauma-informed care to survivors of sexual abuse. Broadly, it covers recommendations for post-rape care and good practices for taking medical histories, conducting examination, providing psychological support, and documenting findings. Importantly, these guidelines also highlight ethical considerations when health-care providers are mandated to report child and adolescent sexual abuse to designated authorities. Additionally, this guideline emphasizes the importance of promoting safety, offering choices and respecting the wishes and autonomy of children and adolescents (regarding the engagement of caregivers). This guideline issues the following adolescent-specific recommendations:

Health facility – HIV post-exposure prophylaxis treatment and adherence:

- Offer HIV post-exposure prophylaxis, as appropriate, to children and adolescents who have been raped involving oral, vaginal or anal penetration with a penis, and who present within 72 hours of the incident.
- Provide a 28-day prescription of antiretroviral medicines for HIV post-exposure prophylaxis, following initial risk assessment.
- Ideally offer preferentially a triple-therapy regimen, but a two-medicine regimen is also effective.
- Incorporate adherence counselling as an important element in the provision of HIV postexposure prophylaxis to survivors of sexual assault or rape.

Health facility – pregnancy prevention and management among girls who have been sexually abused:

• Offer emergency contraception to girls who have been raped involving penovaginal penetration and who present within 120 hours (5 days) of the incident.

Health facility – post-exposure prophylaxis for curable and vaccinepreventable STIs:

- Offer presumptive (or prophylactic) treatment for gonorrhoea, chlamydia and syphilis for children and adolescents who have been sexually abused involving oral, genital or anal contact with a penis or oral sex, particularly in settings where laboratory testing is not feasible.
- Offer syndromic case management for children and adolescents who have been sexually abused and who present with clinical symptoms (vaginal/urethral discharge – gonorrhoea, chlamydia, trichomoniasis; genital ulcers – herpes simplex virus, syphilis, chancroid), particularly in settings where laboratory testing is not feasible.
- Offer hepatitis B vaccination without hepatitis B immunoglobulin, as per national guidance.
- Offer HPV vaccine to girls in the age group 9–14 years, as per national guidance.

Health facility – psychological and mental health interventions in the short term and longer term:

- Do not use psychological debriefing in an attempt to reduce the risk of post-traumatic stress, anxiety or depressive symptoms.
- Consider cognitive behavioural therapy with a trauma focus for children and adolescents who have been sexually abused and are experiencing symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder.
- Consider cognitive behavioural therapy with a trauma focus, when safe and appropriate, to involve at least one non-offending caregiver, for children and adolescents who have been sexually abused and are experiencing symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder and for their non-offending caregiver(s).
- Offer psychological interventions such as cognitive behavioural therapy to children and adolescents with behavioural disorders, and offer caregiver skills training to their non-offending caregivers.
- Offer psychological interventions such as cognitive behavioural therapy and interpersonal psychotherapy to children and adolescents with emotional disorders, and offer caregiver skills training to their non-offending caregivers.

8.3.2 Responding to intimate partner violence and sexual violence against women: WHO clinical and policy guidelines. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013

This guideline (46), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides recommendations for responding to IPV and sexual violence against women and girls in low-resource settings. Broadly, these guidelines cover identification and clinical care for IPV, clinical care for sexual assault, training relating to IPV and sexual assault against women, policy and programmatic approaches to delivering services, and mandatory reporting of IPV.

8.3.3 WHO guidelines on preventing early pregnancy and poor reproductive outcomes among adolescents in developing countries. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011

This guideline (18), which is specific to adolescents, provides recommendations for action and research to prevent early pregnancy and poor reproductive outcomes among adolescents. Broadly, it recommends reducing marriage before the age of 18 years, reducing pregnancy before the age of 20 years, increasing use of contraception by adolescents at risk of unintended pregnancy, reducing coerced sex among adolescents, reducing unsafe abortion among adolescents, and increasing use of skilled antenatal, childbirth and postnatal care among adolescents. With regard to violence against women and girls, and specifically with regard to coerced sex, this guideline issues the following adolescent-specific recommendations:

Community:

- Create supportive social norms that do not condone coerced sex.
- Implement interventions to engage men and boys to critically assess gender norms and normative behaviours (e.g. gender-transformative approaches) that relate to sexual coercion and violence. Combine these with wider interventions to influence social norms on these issues.

Individual:

- Implement interventions for adolescent girls to resist coerced sex and obtain support if they
 experience coerced sex by building their self-esteem, developing their life skills in areas such
 as communication and negotiation, and improving their links to social networks and their
 ability to obtain support. These interventions should be combined with interventions to create
 supportive social norms that do not condone coerced sex.
- Implement programmes aimed at developing life skills in communication and negotiation.

8.3.4 Consolidated guideline on sexual and reproductive health and rights of women living with HIV. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017

This guideline (43), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, consolidates recommendations on the sexual and reproductive health and rights specific to women living with HIV. Broadly, this guideline describes strategies for creating an enabling environment and providing health interventions for the sexual and reproductive health and rights of women living with HIV. It also discusses implementation issues that health and service delivery interventions must address in order to achieve gender equality and support human rights.

8.4 Key concepts to consider

Where gender-based violence prevention and response services exist, they are often implemented on a pilot basis and not scaled up; they are piecemeal and not integrated into existing platforms; and intersectoral collaboration and coordination are weak. To reach the people who need care and to ensure sustainability of efforts, support and care for adolescent girls who experience IPV and sexual violence need to be integrated into sexual and reproductive health, HIV, mental health and adolescent health programmes and services, rather than being standalone interventions (187). Additionally, while the health-sector response is a key element of addressing violence against adolescents, it needs to be complemented with community-based and multisectoral interventions that tackle harmful gender norms and attitudes that justify or condone violence against women and girls (187).

Most health-care providers are not prepared to deal with gender-based violence, including as it relates to reporting of sexual abuse. Health-care providers need training and ongoing support to provide care that is child- and adolescent-centred, is age-appropriate, is responsive to the needs of adolescents, and considers the evolving capacities of adolescents in determining when and how best to engage parents, legal guardians and other relevant caregivers (42, 187). Reporting of sexual abuse, where mandated by law, needs to take into account situations where protection systems are not functioning optimally and where adolescents under the legal age of sexual consent may be having consensual sex with peers (46).

Adolescents often do not seek gender-based violence prevention, support and care services. Uptake of services needs to be facilitated. Health-care providers, including those working in communities, can support this by raising public awareness of the signs, symptoms and health consequences of IPV and sexual abuse, and the need to reduce stigma and to seek timely care (189).



8.5 Key complementary documents in addition to the WHO guidelines

- Global plan of action: health systems address violence against women and girls. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 *(187)*
- INSPIRE: seven strategies for ending violence against children. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (190)
- Global guidance on addressing school-related gender-based violence. Paris: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization; 2016 (191)
- 16 ideas for addressing violence against women in the context of the HIV epidemic: a programming tool. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (192)
- What works to prevent partner violence? An evidence overview. London: London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine; 2011 (193)
- Lundgren R, Amin A. Addressing intimate partner violence and sexual violence among adolescents: emerging evidence of effectiveness. J Adolesc Health. 56(1):S42–S50 (186)

8.6 Real-life application of the guidelines

The WHO guidelines Responding to Intimate Partner Violence and Sexual Violence against Women (46) and Responding to Children and Adolescents who Have Been Sexually Abused (42) are currently being implemented in Pakistan. A clinical handbook on health care for survivors of

intimate partner or sexual violence was developed as an implementation tool for the guidelines. The tool offers practical "how to" guidance with job aids and instructions for provision of clinical care. In 2016, the Pakistani Ministry of Health, with support from WHO, adapted and approved an updated clinical handbook with a chapter on child and adolescent sexual abuse response. In 2018, two training of trainers sessions with doctors and female health visitors were held in Punjab and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa provinces using the adapted clinical handbook. Plans are currently in development for cascade training up to the district level. Additionally, Punjab province is developing a monitoring and evaluation component to assess improvements in knowledge, attitudes and skills of providers, and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa province will conduct a facility readiness evaluation to assess what changes are needed at the service delivery level. Uptake of guidelines will be evaluated by assessing changes in provider knowledge, attitudes and skills in responding to violence.

O Harmful traditional practices prevention

9.1 Definitions

Traditional cultural practices reflect values and beliefs held by members of a community for periods often spanning generations (194). Every social grouping in the world has specific cultural beliefs and practices, some of which are beneficial, some with no benefits or harms, and some that can be harmful to a specific group, in particular women (194). These harmful traditional practices include FGM, child marriage, female infanticide, menstrual stigma and nutritional practices (194).

Female genital mutilation (FGM) refers to any procedure that involves the partial or total removal of external genitalia or other injury to the female genital organs (such as stitching of the labia majora or pricking of the clitoris) for non-medical reasons (195). WHO classifies FGM into four types (196).⁹

Child marriage refers to a formal marriage or informal union before the age of 18 years (197).

9.2 Rationale

Harmful traditional practices among adolescents are an important problem. Over 200 million girls and women are estimated to be living with the effects of FGM, which is predominantly performed on girls under the age of 18 years (198). FGM is a global problem, most prevalent in 30 countries in Africa and in a few countries in Asia and the Middle East (198, 199). In some countries, such as Djibouti, Guinea, Mali, Somalia and Sudan, the prevalence of FGM is over 75% among women and girls aged 15–49 years (200). However, estimates indicate that although FGM remains common in a number of settings, an adolescent girl today is about a third less likely to undergo FGM compared with 30 years ago (201).

Each year about 12 million girls are married before the age of 18 years (202). Worldwide, girls are approximately five times as likely as boys to be married before the age of 15 years (203). In 25 high-prevalence countries, approximately 36% of women aged 18–22 years were married before the age of 18 years (204). Globally, the proportion of women who were married as children has decreased by 15% in the past decade (202). However, progress has been uneven across

⁹ Type I: partial or total removal of the clitoral glans (clitoridectomy) or the prepuce; type II: partial or total removal of the clitoral glans and the labia minora, with or without excision of the labia majora (excision); type III: narrowing of the vaginal opening with the creation of a covering seal by cutting and appositioning the labia minora or labia majora, with or without excision of the clitoral glans (infibulation); type IV: all other harmful procedures to the female genitalia for non-medical purposes, such as pricking, piercing, incising, scraping and cauterization.

regions: while north Africa and the Middle East have decreased the percentage of girls married by age 18 years by about half, and south Asia has reduced a girl's risk of marrying before age 18 years by more than a third, less change has been observed in Latin America and sub-Saharan Africa (202,205). Meanwhile, country-level studies point to immense subnational variability in child marriage prevalence (206,207).

Harmful traditional practices among adolescents can have serious health and social consequences. FGM has no known health benefits. On the contrary, it can cause immediate health consequences, such as haemorrhage, shock, infections and death (195). It can also cause long-term health and social consequences, such as post-traumatic stress disorder, menstrual problems, and pain and discomfort during intercourse (195). Women with type III FGM, in particular, are more likely to experience difficult labour and obstetric haemorrhage compared with women without FGM (208). Additionally, the children of mothers who have undergone FGM are at increased risk of stillbirth and other neonatal complications (209).

Ninety percent of births to adolescents aged 15–19 years globally occur within marriage, and child marriage is likely to be the cause of early childbirth for 75% of the girls who have their first child before the age of 18 years in 25 high-prevalence countries (*210*). Adolescent pregnancies are associated with a range of negative health outcomes, especially among girls aged 10–14 years (see Sections 3 and 4) (*33,211*). Additionally, women who are married before the age of 18 years may have a higher risk of experiencing IPV (see Section 8) (*210*). Child marriage also has a negative effect on educational attainment and secondary school enrolment and completion for girls, and on the educational attainment of the children of women who are married before age 18 years (*210*).

Prevention of harmful traditional practice interventions has been shown to be effective. Multicomponent interventions, especially those that include community mobilization and female empowerment strategies, have the potential to improve a range of adolescent sexual and reproductive health outcomes and could reduce FGM (212). Additionally, other promising intervention strategies include legislation against FGM, prevention counselling in health settings, education about health risks associated with FGM, training of health workers, training and conversion of circumcisers, promotion of alternative rites (in certain contexts), use of positive deviance, and comprehensive social development including outreach and advocacy (212).

To prevent child marriage, interventions must be multisectoral to address the numerous drivers of the issue by establishing and implementing laws and policies; mobilizing families and communities; providing health, social and legal services; and empowering girls (18). Life skills curriculum and empowerment approaches are promising intervention strategies (213,214). In some contexts, economic interventions such as cash transfers or programmes to decrease school-associated costs have contributed to reductions in the rate of child marriage or increases in age at marriage; however, they are more likely to be effective when combined with efforts to build individual confidence and links to social networks (213,214). Programmes to prevent child marriage are more likely to have a positive impact if they focus directly on child marriage or on closely related structural factors such as schooling rather than on broader topics such as HIV, sexual and reproductive health, or empowerment (213).

Laws and policies and prevention strategies and their implementation need attention. A total of 27 of the 30 countries where FGM is prevalent have laws or decrees banning FGM, and yet the practice continues (215). Additionally, there is emerging evidence indicating that health-care providers are increasingly carrying out FGM in different settings (216). As such, enforcement of laws and policies is a major gap in progress to address FGM. Further, the evidence base about which components and sequences of programmatic interventions have the most impact on individual behaviour and social norm change related to FGM is lacking. Similarly, implementation of promising strategies needs to be accelerated, and their effectiveness further evaluated (217).

Globally, 99 countries have laws that allow a girl to be married before age 18 years if her parents provide consent (218). Additionally, girls in 30 countries with laws prohibiting child marriage may not be legally protected when exceptions under customary and religious law are considered (218). Regional model laws, such as the Southern African Development Community Parliamentary Forum Model Law on Eradicating Child Marriage and Protecting Children Already in Marriage, must be adopted and countries must be supported to implement and enforce laws consistent with these models (219). Given that evidence clearly shows that laws alone are not sufficient to prevent child marriage, legislative changes need to be complemented with programmatic efforts, such as those described above, to empower adolescents, build equitable gender norms, and promote girls' educational attainment (18).

States have obligations under human rights law to prevent and address harmful traditional practices. Human rights standards call for an holistic approach to the prevention and elimination of harmful practices. States must adopt legislative measures to expressly prohibit these practices, which are a form of gender-based violence, including providing for adequate sanctions, combined with other legal and policy measures, including social measures (*102, 220*). These measures must include attention to the root causes of harmful practices, capacity-building at all levels, and protective measures for women and children who have been victims of harmful practices (*220*).

9.3 Relevant WHO guidelines

9.3.1 WHO guidelines on the management of health complications from female genital mutilation. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016

This guideline (195), which is relevant for but not specific to adolescents, provides recommendations for management of health complications from FGM. Broadly, it covers prevention and management of obstetric, gynaecological or urological complications; promotion of mental health and female sexual health; and provision of information and education. This guideline issues the following adolescent-specific recommendations:

Health facility – deinfibulation:

• Offer deinfibulation for preventing and treating urological complications, specifically recurrent urinary tract infections and urinary retention, in girls and women living with type III FGM.

Health facility – mental health:

 Consider cognitive behavioural therapy for girls and women living with FGM who are experiencing symptoms consistent with anxiety disorders, depression or post-traumatic stress disorder.

9.3.2 WHO guidelines on preventing early pregnancy and poor reproductive outcomes among adolescents in developing countries. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011

This guideline (18), which is specific to adolescents, provides recommendations for action and research to prevent early pregnancy and poor reproductive outcomes among adolescents. Broadly, it recommends reducing marriage before the age of 18 years, reducing pregnancy before the age of 20 years, increasing use of contraception by adolescents at risk of unintended pregnancy, reducing coerced sex among adolescents, reducing unsafe abortion among adolescents, and increasing use of skilled antenatal, childbirth and postnatal care among adolescents. With regard to harmful traditional practices, and specifically child marriage, the guidelines issue the following adolescent-specific recommendations:

Policy:

 Encourage political leaders, planners and community leaders to formulate and enforce laws and policies to prohibit marriage of girls before 18 years of age.

Community:

- Undertake interventions to delay marriage of girls until 18 years of age by influencing family and community norms. These interventions should be undertaken in conjunction with interventions directed at political leaders and planners.
- Increase educational opportunities for girls through formal and non-formal channels, in order to delay marriage until 18 years of age.

Individual:

 Implement interventions to inform and empower girls, in combination with interventions to influence family and community norms, in order to delay the age of marriage among girls under 18 years of age.

9.4 Key concepts to consider

FGM and child marriage are longstanding, deep-rooted traditional practices that cannot be reversed by briefly-implemented single-component interventions. Efforts to prevent FGM and child marriage require long-term and multilevel interventions (18,195). Necessary interventions include securing political will and funding to address the harmful traditional practices, improving legislative frameworks and accompanying enforcement mechanisms, strengthening civil registration systems that provide proof of age for children for reporting of child marriage and implementing community interventions to address customary or religious laws and social norms that condone the practices (18,212). These efforts should be complemented with efforts to increase education and employment opportunities for adolescent girls.

Leaders, including health-care providers, may themselves support FGM or child marriage (215). All stakeholders, at the community, national, regional and international levels, should play a role in prevention of FGM and child marriage (195). With regard to FGM, health-care providers should receive information regarding different types of FGM and the associated immediate and long-term health risks so that they can contribute to preventing FGM (195). Medicalization of FGM (performance of FGM by health-care providers) is never acceptable because this violates medical ethics: FGM is a harmful practice, medicalization perpetuates FGM, and the risks of the procedure outweigh any perceived benefit (195).

Many adolescents who have undergone FGM or have been married before age 18 years do not have access to care and support. In addition, girls and women may delay seeking care because they are embarrassed or ashamed (195). Adolescents and other stakeholders need to be informed about the consequences of FGM and child marriage, as well as the health, social and legal services available to them. Married girls and girls who have experienced FGM need access to and support to utilize physical and psychosocial care and support for immediate and long-term health and social consequences (18,195).



9.5 Key complementary documents in addition to the WHO guidelines

- Care of girls and women living with female genital mutilation: a clinical handbook. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 *(196)*
- Female genital mutilation: integrating the prevention and the management of the health complications into the curricula of nursing and midwifery – a teacher's guide. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2001 (221)
- Interagency statement on eliminating female genital mutilation. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2008 (222)
- Global strategy to stop health care providers from performing female genital mutilation. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010 (223)
- Salam RA, Faqqah A, Sajjad N, Lassi ZS, Das JK, Kaufman M, et al. Improving adolescent sexual and reproductive health: a systematic review of potential interventions. J Adolesc Health. 2016;59(4 Suppl.):S11–S28 (212)
- Kalamar AM, Lee-Rife S, Hindin MJ. Interventions to prevent child marriage among young people in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review of the published and gray literature. J Adolesc Health. 2016;59(3 Suppl.):S16–S21 (213)
- Ending child marriage: progress and prospects. New York: United Nations Children's Fund; 2014 (205)
- Wodon QT, Male C, Nayihouba KA, Onagoruwa AO, Savadogo A, Yedan A, et al. Economic impacts of child marriage: global synthesis report. Washington, DC: World Bank Group; 2017 (210)

9.6 Real-life application of the guidelines

In April 2016, Zambia's Minister of Gender finalized and launched the National End Child Marriage Strategy. In December 2017, a costed, multisectoral national plan of action was developed to guide the comprehensive and integrated response to child marriage. The development of both documents was technically supported by the United Nations Global Programme to Accelerate Action to End Child Marriage and both documents are aligned with the *WHO Guidelines on Preventing Early Pregnancy and Poor Reproductive Outcomes among Adolescents in Developing Countries (18)*. Two pilot districts were selected for initial implementation of the multisectoral action plan. Additionally, the National Assembly of Zambia and the Inter-Parliamentary Union organized a parliamentarians could take to play a more active role in the national implementation process, including approving and supporting legislation, oversight, budget allocation and representation (*224*).

References

- 1 Global strategy for women's, children's and adolescents' health 2016–2030. Geneva: Every Woman Every Child; 2015.
- 2 Global accelerated action for the health of adolescents (AA-HA!): guidance to support country implementation. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.
- 3 Sexual health and its linkages to reproductive health: an operational approach. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.
- 4 Revised edition: international technical guidance on sexuality education an evidence-informed approach. Paris: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization; 2018.
- 5 Chandra-Mouli V, Vipul Patel S. Mapping the knowledge and understanding of menarche, menstrual hygiene and menstrual health among adolescent girls in low- and middle-income countries. Reprod Health. 2017;1(14):14–30.
- 6 Woog V, Singh S, Browne A, Philbin J. Adolescent women's need for and use of sexual and reproductive health services in developing countries. New York: Guttmacher Institute; 2015 (https://www. guttmacher.org/fact-sheet/adolescent-womens-need-anduse-sexual-and-reproductive-health).
- 7 Ending AIDS: progress towards the 90–90–90 targets global AIDS update. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2017 (http://www.unaids.org/en/resources/ documents/2017/20170720_Global_AIDS_update_2017).
- 8 Fonner VA, Armstrong KS, Kennedy CE, O'Reilly KR, Sweat MD. School-based sex education and HIV prevention in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PloS One. 2014;9(3):e89692.
- 9 Shepherd J, Kavanagh J, Picot J, Cooper K, Harden A, Barnett-Page E, et al. The effectiveness and cost–effectiveness of behavioural interventions for the prevention of sexually transmitted infections in young people aged 13–19: a systematic review and economic evaluation. Health Technol Assess. 2010;14(7):1–206,iii–iv.
- 10 Kivela J, Ketting E, Baltussen R. Cost analysis of school-based sexuality education programs in six countries. Cost Eff Resour Alloc. 2013;11:17–17.
- 11 Kivela-Kempers J, Ketting E, Baltussen R. Cost and cost-effectiveness analysis of school-based sexuality education programmes in six countries. Paris: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization; 2011.
- 12 Montgomery P, Knerr W. Review of the evidence on sexuality education: report to inform the update of the UNESCO International Technical Guidance on Sexuality Education. Paris: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization; 2016.
- 13 Emerging evidence: lessons and practice in comprehensive sexuality education a global review. Paris: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization; 2015.
- 14 Reducing global poverty through universal primary and secondary education: out-of-school children, adolescents and youth, global status and trends. Policy paper 32, fact sheet 44. Paris: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization; 2017.
- 15 Committee on Economic Social and Cultural Rights. General comment no. 22 on the right to sexual and reproductive health. New York: United Nations Economic and Social Council; 2016.
- 16 Committee on the Rights of the Child. General comment no. 15 on the right of the child to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of health. New York: United Nations; 2013.
- 17 Committee on the Rights of the Child. General comment no. 20 on the implementation of the rights of the child during adolescence. New York: United Nations; 2016.
- 18 WHO guidelines on preventing early pregnancy and poor reproductive outcomes among adolescents in developing countries. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011.
- 19 Ensuring human rights in the provision of contraceptive information and services: guidance and recommendations. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014.
- 20 Consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for key populations: 2016 update. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 21 Standards for sexuality education in Europe: a framework for policy makers, educational and health authorities and specialists. Cologne: World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe and Federal Centre for Health Education; 2010.
- 22 Standards for sexuality education in Europe: guidance for implementation. Cologne: Federal Centre for Health Education; 2013.
- 23 Operational guidance for comprehensive sexuality education: a focus on human rights and gender. New York: United Nations Population Fund; 2014.
- 24 The evaluation of comprehensive sexuality education programmes: a focus on the gender and empowerment outcomes. New York: United Nations Population Fund; 2015.
- 25 Preventing through education. Ministerial declaration. Paris: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization; 2008.
- 26 Ministerial Commitment on Comprehensive Sexuality Education and Sexual and Reproductive Health Services for Adolescents and Young People in Eastern and Southern Africa. Cape Town; 2013.
- 27 Festin MPR, Kiarie J, Solo J, Spieler J, Malarcher S, Van Look PF, et al. Moving towards the goals of FP2020: classifying contraceptives. Contraception. 2016;94(4):289–294.
- 28 Darroch J, Woog V, Bankola A, Ashford L. Adding it up: costs and benefits of meeting the contraceptive needs of adolescents. New York: Guttmacher Institute; 2016.

- 29 Neal S, Matthews Z, Frost M, Fogstad H, Camacho AV, Laski L. Childbearing in adolescents aged 12–15 years in low resource countries: a neglected issue new estimates from demographic and household surveys in 42 countries. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2012;91(9):1114–1118.
- 30 Girlhood, not motherhood: preventing adolescent pregnancy. New York: United Nations Population Fund; 2015.
- 31 Global health estimates 2015: deaths by cause, age, sex, by country and by region, 2000–2015. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 32 Trends in maternal mortality: 1990 to 2015 estimates by WHO, UNICEF, UNFPA, World Bank Group and the United Nations Population Division. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015.
- 33 Ganchimeg T, Ota E, Morisaki N, Laopaiboon M, Lumbiganon P, Zhang J, et al. Pregnancy and childbirth outcomes among adolescent mothers: a World Health Organization multicountry study. BJOG. 2014;121(Suppl. 1):40–48.
- 34 Kozuki N, Lee ACC, Silveira MF, Victora CG, Adair L, Humphrey J, et al. The associations of birth intervals with small-for-gestational-age, preterm, and neonatal and infant mortality: a metaanalysis. BMC Publ Health. 2013;13(Suppl. 3):S3–S3.
- 35 Norton M, Chandra-Mouli V, Lane C. Interventions for preventing unintended, rapid repeat pregnancy among adolescents: a review of the evidence and lessons from high-quality evaluations. Glob Health Sci Pract. 2017;5(4):547.
- 36 Adolescent pregnancy: a review of the evidence. New York: United Nations Population Fund; 2013.
- 37 Merrick T. Making the case for investing in adolescent reproductive health: a review of evidence and PopPov research contributions. Washington, DC: Population and Poverty Research Initiative and Population Reference Bureau; 2015.
- 38 Family planning: a global handbook for providers (2018 edition). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018.
- 39 Chandra-Mouli V, Parameshwar PS, Parry M, Lane C, Hainsworth G, Wong S, et al. A neverbefore opportunity to strengthen investment and action on adolescent contraception, and what we must do to make full use of it. Reprod Health. 2017;14(1):85.
- 40 Medical eligibility criteria for contraceptive use, 5th edn. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015.
- 41 Selected practice recommendations for contraceptive use. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 42 Responding to children and adolescents who have been sexually abused: WHO clinical guidelines. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.
- 43 Consolidated guideline on sexual and reproductive health and rights of women living with HIV. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.
- 44 Guidance statement: hormonal contraceptive eligibility for women at high risk of HIV. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.

- 45 WHO recommendations on health promotion interventions for maternal and newborn health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015.
- 46 Responding to intimate partner violence and sexual violence against women: WHO clinical and policy guidelines. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013.
- 47 Global standards for quality health care services for adolescents. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015.
- 48 Medical eligibility criteria wheel for contraceptive use. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015.
- 49 Compendium of WHO recommendations for postpartum family planning. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 50 Training resource package for family planning. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://www. fptraining.org/).
- 51 Task shifting to improve access to contraceptive methods. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013.
- 52 Reducing early and unintended pregnancies among adolescents: evidence brief. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.
- 53 Task sharing to improve access to family planning/contraception: summary brief. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.
- 54 Adolescents and family planning: what the evidence shows. Washington, DC: International Center for Research on Women; 2014.
- 55 High-impact Practices (HIPs) in family planning: adolescent-friendly contraceptive services mainstreaming adolescent-friendly elements into existing contraceptive services. Washington, DC: United States Agency for International Development; 2015.
- 56 Youth contraceptive use: effective interventions a reference guide. Washington, DC: Population Reference Bureau; 2017.
- 57 Global consensus statement for expanding contraceptive choice for adolescents and youth to include long-acting reversible contraception. Washington, DC: Family Planning 2020; 2017.
- 58 Kabra R, Ali M, Kiarie J. Design and initial implementation of the WHO FP umbrella project to strengthen contraceptive services in the sub Saharan Africa. Reprod Health. 2017;14(1):74.
- 59 WHO recommendations on antenatal care for a positive pregnancy experience. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 60 Pregnancy, childbirth, postpartum and newborn care: a guide for essential practice, 3rd edn. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015.
- 61 Kassebaum NJ, Barber RM, Bhutta ZA, Dandona L, Gething PW, Hay SI, et al. Global, regional, and national levels of maternal mortality, 1990–2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. Lancet. 2016;388(10053):1775–1812.

- 62 Banke-Thomas OE, Banke-Thomas AO, Ameh CA. Factors influencing utilisation of maternal health services by adolescent mothers in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2017;17(1):65.
- 63 Chynoweth SK. Advancing reproductive health on the humanitarian agenda: the 2012–2014 global review. Conflict Health. 2015;9(1):11.
- 64 Committee on Economic Social and Cultural Rights. General comment no. 14 on the right to health. New York: United Nations Economic and Social Council; 2000.
- 65 WHO recommendations on maternal health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.
- 66 WHO recommendations on postnatal care of the mother and newborn. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013.
- 67 Use of multiple micronutrient powders for point-of-use fortification of foods consumed by pregnant women. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 68 Optimal serum and red blood cell folate concentrations in women of reproductive age for prevention of neural tube defects. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015.
- 69 Guidelines for the identification and management of substance use and substance use disorders in pregnancy. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014.
- 70 WHO recommendations for prevention and treatment of pre-eclampsia and eclampsia. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011.
- 71 WHO recommendations for induction of labour. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011.
- 72 WHO recommendations for augmentation of labour. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014.
- 73 WHO recommendations for intrapartum care for a positive childbirth experience. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018.
- 74 WHO recommendations for prevention and treatment of maternal peripartum infections. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015.
- 75 WHO recommendations for the prevention and treatment of postpartum haemorrhage. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012.
- 76 WHO recommendations on tranexamic acid for the treatment of postpartum haemorrhage. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.
- 77 Daily iron supplementation in postpartum women: guideline. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 78 Optimizing health worker roles to improve access to key maternal and newborn health interventions through task shifting. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012.
- 79 WHO recommendation on community mobilization through facilitated participatory learning and action cycles with women's groups for maternal and newborn health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014.

- 80 Managing complications in pregnancy and childbirth: a guide for midwives and doctors, 2nd edn. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.
- 81 Companion of choice during labour and childbirth for improved quality of care: evidence-to-action brief. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 82 Prevention and elimination of disrespect and abuse during childbirth. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014.
- 83 Strengthening midwifery toolkit. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011.
- 84 Obstetric fistula: guiding principles for clinical management and programme development. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2006.
- 85 Tibingana-Ahimbisibwe B, Katabira C, Mpalampa L, Harrison RA. The effectiveness of adolescentspecific prenatal interventions on improving attendance and reducing harm during and after birth: a systematic review. Int J Adolesc Med Health. 2016;30:(3).
- 86 The GREAT Network: what we do. GREAT Network (https://greatnetworkglobal.org/ about-us/#whatwedo).
- 87 Jones J, Hunter D. Consensus methods for medical and health services research. BMJ. 1995;311(7001):376–380.
- 88 Fitch K, Bernstein S, Aguilar M, Bernard Burnand, Juan Ramon LaCalle, Pablo Lazaro, et al. The RAND/UCLA appropriateness method user's manual. Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation; 2001.
- 89 Straus SE, Moore JE, Uka S, Marquez C, Gulmezoglu AM. Determinants of implementation of maternal health guidelines in Kosovo: mixed methods study. Implement Sci. 2013;8:108.
- 90 Vogel JP, Moore JE, Timmings C, Khan S, Khan DN, Defar A, et al. Barriers, facilitators and priorities for implementation of WHO maternal and perinatal health guidelines in four lower-income countries: a GREAT Network research activity. PloS One. 2016;11(11):e0160020.
- 91 International classification of diseases: the global standard for diagnostic health information, 11th revision. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018.
- 92 Ganatra B, Gerdts C, Rossier C, Johnson BR Jr, Tunçalp Ö, Assifi A, et al. Global, regional, and subregional classification of abortions by safety, 2010–14: estimates from a Bayesian hierarchical model. Lancet. 2017;390(10 110):2372–2381.
- 93 Say L, Chou D, Gemmill A, Tunçalp Ö, Moller AB, Daniels J, et al. Global causes of maternal death: a WHO systematic analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 2(6):e323–e333.
- 94 Adolescents' need for and use of abortion services in developing countries. New York: Guttmacher Institute; 2016.
- 95 Safe abortion: technical and policy guidance for health systems. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012.

- 96 Bartlett LA, Berg CJ, Shulman HB, Zane SB, Green CA, Whitehead S, et al. Risk factors for legal induced abortion-related mortality in the United States. Obstet Gynecol. 2004;103(4):729–737.
- 97 Chae S, Desai S, Crowell M, Sedgh G, Singh S. Characteristics of women obtaining induced abortions in selected low- and middle-income countries. PloS One. 2017;12(3):e0172976.
- 98 Abortion policies and reproductive health around the world. New York: United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs; 2014.
- 99 Bayer L, Cheetham N, Robbins S. Youth and unsafe abortion: A global snapshot. Washington DC: Advocates for Youth; 2011.
- 100 Berer M. National laws and unsafe abortion: the parameters of change. Reprod Health Matt. 2004;12(24 Suppl.):1–8.
- 101 Jewkes R, Rees H, Dickson K, Brown H, Levin J. The impact of age on the epidemiology of incomplete abortions in South Africa after legislative change. BJOG. 2005;112(3):355–359.
- 102 Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women. General recommendation no. 35 on gender-based violence against women, updating general recommendation no. 19. New York: United Nations; 2017.
- 103 Health worker roles in providing safe abortion care and post-abortion contraception. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015.
- 104 The world health report 2005: make every mother and child count. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2005.
- 105 Global perspectives on unplanned pregnancies: a framework for action from the World Contraception Day Coalition. Berlin: World Contraception Day Coalition; 2014.
- 106 Clinical practice handbook for safe abortion. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014.
- 107 Interagency statement: preventing gender-biased sex selection. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011.
- 108 Renner R-M, de Guzman A, Brahmi D. Abortion care for adolescent and young women. Int J Gynecol Obstet. 2014;126(1):1–7.
- 109 Provision of abortion care for adolescent and young women: a systematic review. Chapel Hill, NC: Ipas; 2013.
- 110 The WHO strategic approach to strengthening sexual and reproductive health policies and programmes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007.
- 111 Van Look PFA, Cottingham J. The World Health Organization's safe abortion guidance document. Am J Publ Health. 2013;103(4):593–596.
- 112 Comendant R, Sagaidac I, Hodorogea S. Achievements in sexual and reproductive health and rights: improved access and quality of abortion services for women in the Republic of Moldova. Entre Nous. 2016;85:26–27.

- 113 Sexually transmitted infections (STIs) fact sheet. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 114 Torrone EA, Morrison CS, Chen P-L, Kwok C, Francis SC, et al. Prevalence of sexually transmitted infections and bacterial vaginosis among women in sub-Saharan Africa: an individual participant data meta-analysis of 18 HIV prevention studies. PLoS Med. 2018;15(2):e1002511.
- 115 Chlamydia: annual epidemiological report for 2015. Solna: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control; 2017.
- 116 Satterwhite CL, Torrone E, Meites E, Dunne EF, Mahajan R, Ocfemia MC, et al. Sexually transmitted infections among US women and men: prevalence and incidence estimates, 2008. Sex Transm Dis. 2013;40(3):187–193.
- 117 Kleppa E, Holmen SD, Lillebo K, Kjetland EF, Gundersen SG, Taylor M, et al. Cervical ectopy: associations with sexually transmitted infections and HIV a cross-sectional study of high school students in rural South Africa. Sex Transm Infect. 2015;91(2):124–129.
- 118 Sexually transmitted disease surveillance 2016. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2017.
- 119 Kågesten A, Gibbs S, Blum RW, Moreau C, Chandra-Mouli V, Herbert A, et al. Understanding factors that shape gender attitudes in early adolescence globally: a mixed-methods systematic review. PloS One. 2016;11(6):e0157805.
- 120 Global health sector strategy on sexually transmitted infections 2016–2021, towards ending STIs. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 121 Prevention and treatment of HIV and other sexually transmitted infections among men who have sex with men and transgender people: recommendations for a public health approach. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011.
- 122 Prevention and treatment of HIV and other sexually transmitted infections for sex workers in lowand middle-income countries: recommendations for a public health approach. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012.
- 123 Freeman EE, Weiss HA, Glynn JR, Cross PL, Whitworth JA, Hayes RJ. Herpes simplex virus 2 infection increases HIV acquisition in men and women: systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. Aids. 2006;20(1):73–83.
- 124 Sexton J, Garnett G, Rottingen JA. Metaanalysis and metaregression in interpreting study variability in the impact of sexually transmitted diseases on susceptibility to HIV infection. Sex Transm Dis. 2005;32(6):351–357.
- 125 Gottlieb SL, Low N, Newman LM, Bolan G, Kamb M, Broutet N. Toward global prevention of sexually transmitted infections (STIs): the need for STI vaccines. Vaccine. 2014;32(14):1527–1535.
- 126 Johnson HL, Ghanem KG, Zenilman JM, Erbelding EJ. Sexually transmitted infections and adverse pregnancy outcomes among women attending inner city public sexually transmitted diseases clinics. Sex Transm Dis. 2011;38(3):167–171.

- 127 Newman L, Kamb M, Hawkes S, Gomez G, Say L, Seuc A, et al. Global estimates of syphilis in pregnancy and associated adverse outcomes: analysis of multinational antenatal surveillance data. PLoS Med. 2013;10(2):e1001396.
- 128 Cervical cancer incidence and mortality worldwide in 2012. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2012.
- 129 Kalamar AM, Bayer AM, Hindin MJ. Interventions to prevent sexually transmitted infections, including HIV, among young people in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review of the published and gray literature. J Adolesc Health. 2016;59(3 Suppl.):S22–S31.
- 130 Newton-Levinson A, Leichliter JS, Chandra-Mouli V. Sexually transmitted infection services for adolescents and youth in low- and middle-income countries: perceived and experienced barriers to accessing care. J Adolesc Health. 2016;59(1):7–16.
- 131 WHO guidelines for the treatment of *Treponema pallidum* (syphilis). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 132 WHO guideline on syphilis screening and treatment for pregnant women. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.
- 133 WHO guidelines for the treatment of genital herpes simplex virus. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 134 WHO guidelines for the treatment of *Chlamydia trachomatis*. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 135 WHO guidelines for the treatment of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 136 Guidelines on hepatitis B and C testing. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 137 Guidelines for the prevention, care and treatment of persons with chronic hepatitis B infection. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015.
- 138 Guidelines for the screening, care and treatment of persons with chronic hepatitis C infection: updated version, April 2016. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 139 Comprehensive cervical cancer control: a guide to essential practice, 2nd edn. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014.
- 140 Brief sexuality-related communication: recommendations for a public health approach. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015.
- 141 World Health Organization. Human papillomavirus vaccines: WHO position paper, May 2017 recommendations. Vaccine. 2017;35(43):5753–5755.
- 142 Guide to introducing HPV vaccine into national immunization programmes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 143 Scaling-up HPV vaccine introduction. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.

- 144 Sexually transmitted diseases: treatment guidelines, 2015. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2015.
- 145 HPV vaccine lessons learnt project overview. Seattle, WA: PATH; 2015.
- 146 HIV/AIDS fact sheet. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018.
- 147 Consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretroviral drugs for treating and preventing HIV infection: recommendations for a public health approach. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 148 Global AIDS monitoring 2018. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2017.
- 149 The gap report: no one left behind. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2014.
- 150 The youth bulge and HIV. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2018.
- 151 Ending AIDS: progress towards the 90–90–90 targets global AIDS update. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2017.
- 152 Slogrove AL, Mahy M, Armstrong A, Davies MA. Living and dying to be counted: what we know about the epidemiology of the global adolescent HIV epidemic. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017;20 (Suppl. 3):21520.
- 153 For every child end AIDS: seventh stocktaking report, 2016. New York: United Nations Children's Fund; 2016.
- 154 HIV prevention among adolescent girls and young women: putting HIV prevention among adolescent girls and young women on the Fast-Track and engaging men and boys. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2016.
- 155 Cohen MS, Chen YQ, McCauley M, Gamble T, Hosseinipour MC, Kumarasamy N, et al. Prevention of HIV-1 infection with early antiretroviral therapy. New Engl J Med. 2011;365(6):493–505.
- 156 Petersen M, Balzer L, Kwarsiima D, Sang N, Chamie G, Ayieko J, et al. Association of implementation of a universal testing and treatment intervention with HIV diagnosis, receipt of antiretroviral therapy, and viral suppression in east Africa. JAMA. 2017;317(21):2196–2206.
- 157 Auld AF, Agolory SG, Shiraishi RW, Wabwire-Mangen F, Kwesigabo G, Mulenga M, et al. Antiretroviral therapy enrollment characteristics and outcomes among HIV-infected adolescents and young adults compared with older adults: seven African countries, 2004–2013. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2014;63(47):1097–1103.
- 158 Lamb MR, Fayorsey R, Nuwagaba-Biribonwoha H, Viola V, Mutabazi V, Alwar T, et al. High attrition before and after ART initiation among youth (15–24 years of age) enrolled in HIV care. Aids. 2014;28(4):559–568.
- 159 HIV and adolescents: guidance for HIV testing and counselling and care for adolescents living with HIV recommendations for a public health approach and considerations for policy-makers and managers. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013.
- 160 Guidelines on HIV self-testing and partner notification. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 161 WHO consolidated guidelines on HIV testing services. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015.

- 162 Updated recommendations on first-line and second-line antiretroviral regimens and post-exposure prophylaxis and recommendations on early infant diagnosis of HIV: interim guidance. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018.
- 163 Guideline on when to start antiretroviral therapy and on pre-exposure prophylaxis for HIV. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015.
- 164 Guidelines on post-exposure prophylaxis for HIV and the use of co-trimoxazole prophylaxis for HIVrelated infections among adults, adolescents and children. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014.
- 165 Guidelines for managing advanced HIV disease and rapid initiation of antiretroviral therapy. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.
- 166 Consolidated guidelines on person-centred HIV patient monitoring and case surveillance. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.
- 167 Integrating collaborative TB and HIV services within a comprehensive package of care for people who inject drugs: consolidated guidelines. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 168 Guidelines on the public health response to pretreatment HIV drug resistance. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.
- 169 Adolescent HIV testing, counselling and care: implementation guidance for health providers and planners. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014.
- 170 Key considerations for differentiated antiretroviral therapy delivery for specific populations: children, adolescents, pregnant and breastfeeding women and key populations. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.
- 171 The importance of sexual and reproductive health and rights to prevent HIV in adolescent girls and young women in eastern and southern Africa. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.
- 172 Clinical manual for male circumcision under local anaesthesia and HIV prevention services for adolescent boys and men. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018.
- 173 WHO implementation tool for pre-exposure prophylaxis of HIV infection. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.
- 174 Grimwood A, Fatti G, Mothibi E, Malahlela M, Shea J, Eley B. Community adherence support improves programme retention in children on antiretroviral treatment: a multicentre cohort study in South Africa. J Int AIDS Soc. 2012;15(2):17 381.
- 175 Field lessons: strengthening health services and outcomes for adolescents living with HIV. New York: United Nations Children's Fund; 2013.
- 176 Mavhu W, Willis N, Mufuka J, Mangenah C, Mvududu K, Bernays S, et al. Evaluating a multicomponent, community-based program to improve adherence and retention in care among adolescents living with HIV in Zimbabwe: study protocol for a cluster randomized controlled trial. Trials. 2017;18(1):478.

- 177 Convention on the elimination of all forms of discrimination against women: general recommendation no. 19. New York: United Nations; 1992.
- 178 United Nations General Assembly resolution A/RES/48/104: declaration on the elimination of violence against women. New York: United Nations; 1993.
- 179 Violence against women: intimate partner and sexual violence against women fact sheet. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.
- 180 Global and regional estimates of violence against women: prevalence and health effects of intimate partner violence and non-partner violence. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013.
- 181 Stoltenborgh M, van IJzendoorn MH, Euser EM, Bakermans-Kranenburg MJ. A global perspective on child sexual abuse: meta-analysis of prevalence around the world. Child Maltreat. 2011;16(2):79–101.
- 182 Understanding and addressing violence against women: sexual violence. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012.
- 183 Attitudes and social norms on violence. New York: United Nations Children's Fund; 2017.
- 184 Sumner S, Mercy J, Saul J, Motsa-Nzuza N, Kwesigabo G, Buluma R, et al. Prevalence of sexual violence against children and social services utilization: seven countries, 2007–2013. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2015;64(21):565–569.
- 185 Maniglio R. The impact of child sexual abuse on health: a systematic review of reviews. Clin Psychol Rev. 2009;29(7):647–657.
- 186 Lundgren R, Amin A. Addressing intimate partner violence and sexual violence among adolescents: emerging evidence of effectiveness. J Adolesc Health. 2015;56(1):S42–S50.
- 187 Global plan of action: health systems address violence against women and girls. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 188 Arango DJ, Morton M, Gennari F, Kiplesund S, Ellsberg M. Interventions to prevent or reduce violence against women and girls: a systematic review of reviews. Washington, DC: World Bank Group; 2014.
- 189 Namy S, Carlson C, O'Hara K, Nakuti J, Bukuluki P, Lwanyaaga J, et al. Towards a feminist understanding of intersecting violence against women and children in the family. Soc Sci Med. 2017;184(Suppl. C):40–48.
- 190 INSPIRE: seven strategies for ending violence against children. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 191 Global guidance on addressing school-related gender-based violence. Paris: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization; 2016.
- 192 16 ideas for addressing violence against women in the context of the HIV epidemic: a programming tool. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013.

- 193 What works to prevent partner violence? An evidence overview. London: London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine; 2011.
- 194 Fact sheet no. 23: harmful traditional practices affecting the health of women and children. Geneva: Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights; 1995.
- 195 WHO guidelines on the management of health complications from female genital mutilation. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 196 Care of girls and women living with female genital mutilation: a clinical handbook. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018.
- 197 Convention on the Rights of the Child, 20 November 1989. New York: United Nations; 1989.
- 198 UNICEF data: Female genital mutilation. New York: United Nations Children's Fund; 2018.
- 199 Female genital mutilation/cutting: a global concern. New York: United Nations Children's Fund; 2016.
- 200 Female genital mutilation/cutting: data and trends. Washington, DC: Population Reference Bureau; 2017.
- 201 Female genital mutilation: what might the future hold? New York: United Nations Children's Fund; 2014.
- 202 Child marriage: latest trends and future prospects. New York: United Nations Children's Fund; 2018.
- 203 UNICEF data: Child marriage. New York: United Nations Children's Fund; 2018.
- 204 Male C, Wodon Q. Child marriage and early childbirth: trend and profile for 25 countries. Washington, DC: World Bank; 2017.
- 205 Ending child marriage: progress and prospects. New York: United Nations Children's Fund; 2014.
- 206 Koski A, Clark S, Nandi A. Has child marriage declined in sub-Saharan Africa? An analysis of trends in 31 countries. Pop Dev Rev. 2017;43(1):7–29.
- 207 Srinivasan P, Khan N, Verma R, Giusti D, Theis J, Chakraborty S. District-level study on child marriage in India: what do we know about the prevalence, trends and patterns? Washington, DC: International Center for Research on Women; 2015.
- 208 Berg RC, Underland V. The obstetric consequences of female genital mutilation/cutting: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Obstet Gynecol Int. 2013;15.
- 209 WHO study group on female genital mutilation and obstetric outcome: female genital mutilation and obstetric outcome – WHO collaborative prospective study in six African countries. Lancet. 2006;367(9525):1835–1841.
- 210 Wodon QT, Male C, Nayihouba KA, Onagoruwa AO, Savadogo A, Yedan A, et al. Economic impacts of child marriage: global synthesis report. Washington, DC: World Bank Group; 2017.

- 211 Motherhood in childhood: facing the challenge of adolescent pregnancy. New York: United Nations Population Fund; 2013.
- 212 Salam RA, Faqqah A, Sajjad N, Lassi ZS, Das JK, Kaufman M, et al. Improving adolescent sexual and reproductive health: a systematic review of potential interventions. J Adolesc Health. 2016;59(4 Suppl.):S11–S28.
- 213 Kalamar AM, Lee-Rife S, Hindin MJ. Interventions to prevent child marriage among young people in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review of the published and gray literature. J Adolesc Health. 2016;59(3 Suppl.):S16–S21.
- 214 Chae S, Ngo T. The global state of evidence on interventions to prevent child marriage. New York: Population Council; 2017.
- 215 Shell-Duncan B, Naik R, Feldman-Jacobs C. A state of the art synthesis on female genital mutilation/cutting: what do we know? New York: Population Council; 2016.
- 216 Shell-Duncan B, Njue C, Moore Z. The medicalization of female genital mutilation/cutting: what do the data reveal? New York: Population Council; 2017.
- 217 Muteshi JK, Miller S, Belizán JM. The ongoing violence against women: female genital mutilation/ cutting. Reprod Health. 2016;13:44.
- 218 Arthur M, Earle A, Raub A, Vincent I, Atabay E, Latz I, et al. Child marriage laws around the world: minimum marriage age, legal exceptions, and gender disparities. J Women Politics Policy. 2018;39(1):51–74.
- 219 The Model Law on Eradicating Child Marriage and Protecting Children Already in Marriage. Johannesburg: Southern African Development Community Parliamentary Forum; 2016.
- 220 Joint general recommendation no. 31 of the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women and general comment no. 18 of the Committee on the Rights of the Child on harmful practices. New York: United Nations; 2014.
- 221 Female genital mutilation: integrating the prevention and the management of the health complications into the curricula of nursing and midwifery a teacher's guide. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2001.
- 222 Interagency statement on eliminating female genital mutilation. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2008.
- 223 Global strategy to stop health care providers from performing female genital mutilation. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010.
- 224 Outcome document of the parliamentary seminar on parliamentarians to take action to end child, early, and forced marriage. Lusaka: National Assembly of Zambia; 2018.





Department of Reproductive Health and Research World Health Organization 20 Avenue Appia 211, Geneva 27 Switzerland Fax: +41 22 791 4171 E-mail: reproductivehealth@who.int Website: www.who.int/reproductivehealth

